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The course of six LECTURES delivered by me n 1922 on
Nadir Shah wn India has been here compressed and re-arranged In
three CHAPTERS. The reduction amounis to aboul one-sixth of
the whole, bul no essential fact or statement has been omitted.

—J, Sarkar
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CHAPTER |

INTERNAL CONDITION OF
INDIA IN 1738—RISE AND
PROGRESS OF NADIR SHAH

Degeneration of Mughal Aristocracy

The invasion of WNadir Shah involved the Mughal Empire
in disgrace, spoliation and dismemberment. It was, however,
not a cause of the decline of the Empire, but one of the clearest
symptoms of the decline. The Persian conqueror merely
revenled to the world a fact accomplished long before, He
broke ithe spell under which men had been regarding a
gorgeously dressed corpse as a strong man.

How was the work of Akbar and Shah Jahan, Man Singh
and Mir Jumla, thus undone? Why did the geemingly
flourishing State of Aurangzeb fall down like & house of cards
only 3| years after his death ? In reviewing the history of
these 31 years, we find first of all a startling decline in the
character of the nobility and the efficiency of the army. For
this the havoc of civil war was to some extent responsible. In
the thirteen years following the death of Aurangzeb, seven
bloody battles of succession ® had been fought among his
descendants in which large number of Princes, nobles and the
best soldiers had perished. Equally destructive of officers and
men were the armed contesis between rival nobles. For
instance, the Mizam could confirm himself in the viceroyalty of
the Dakhin only after defeating there rivals, For the
governorship of Gujarat there were (hree ruinous encounters

* Bahadur Shah twe, Jahandar Shah three, Farrukhb-
siyar one, and Mubammad Shah one,
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MADIR SHAH IN INDIA

in which Shujeat Khan and Rustam Ali Khan fell and
Sarbuland Khan was defeated.

The loss caused by domestic discord among the Mughals
themselves was mulliplied by the slaughter in operations
against rebels like the Sikhs, Jats, Bundelas and Mahrattas, and
on two occasions against the Rathors. The gaps thus created
in the ranks of the martial nobility were not filled by the
natural succession of worthy offspring, nor by the rise of new
men from the commonalty and recruits from abroad in
sufficient number and of the right quality. To the thoughtful
student of Mughal history nothing is more striking than the
decline of the peerage. The heroes adorn the stage for one
generation only and leave no worthy heirs sprung from their
loins. Abdur-rahim and Mahabat, Sadullah and Mir Jumla,
Ibrahim and Islam Khan Rumi,—who had made the history
" of [ndia in the 17th century,—were succeded by no son,
certainly by no grandson, even half as capable as themselves,
In reading the huge biographical dictionary of the Mughal
peerage ( the Masir-ul-umara in 3 volumes of 900 pages each ),
one frequently comes across such entries as these: “This
nobleman ( naming a general or minister of the frst tank }
died in such and such a year; he left two sons who did
not attain to much advancement™ ; or that “he had three sons
none of whom did anything worthy of being recorded here.”
Often, while the career of the founder of the family occupies
eight or ten pages in this dictionary, his son’s achievements are
exhausted in half a page, and the grandson meets with a bare
mention which he earns merely because be is his father's
som.

Throughout the Mughal period, the best Muslim recruits
for civil administration and war alike were foreign adventures
or converted Hindus. The strong and efficient exotics rapidly
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NADIR SHAH IN INDIA

deteriorated on the Indian soil. Therefore, while the infusion
of fresh blood into the nobility from the indigenous
Muhammadan population and the foreign immigranis
permanently settled in this country did not take place, the only
hope of the continued life and vigour of the State lay in the
regular Mow af the right type of recruits from Bukhara and
Khurasan, Iran and Arabia. When this flow stopped,
the Empire shrivelled up like a tree cut off from its sap.

Alienation of the Hindus and Shias

Akbar had guarded against this danger by making the first
beginnings of the conversion of 4 military monarchy into a
national State,—in effect, though not in constitutional form,
He tried to range the Hindu warrior tribes behind his hired
foreign troops, as the second and more reliable line of defence
for his throne, Under him and his successors, Hindu Rajput
soldiers had carried the Mughal banners to the banks of the
Oxus and the Helmand in the west and those of the Brahma-
putra and the Karnafuli in the easl. They had garrisoned the
Khaibar Pass, defended Garhgaon against the Ahoms and
stormed Chatgaon from the Burmese. But Aurangzeb’s attempt
to annex Jodhpur on the death ol his old servant Jaswant Singh,
his invasion of Mewar, his incessant destruction of Hindu
temples and his rigorous imposition of the hated poll-tax
[ faziya ), not only alienated the Rajput clans, but convinced
all other Hindu races of India that they had no lot or part in
the Mughal State and that for the preservation bf their honour
and liberty of consciene they must look elsewhere. This was
the opportunity of the Mahrattas. This belief, rooted deep in
the minds of the Hindu officers and vassals of Aurangzeb,
made them indifferent or secretly hostile to their master's
cause during his wars with Shivaji and his successors. To the

[ 31



MADIR SHAH IN INDIA

" Rajputs and Bundelas, who had so long been the staunchest of
supports of the Mughal cause, the Mahratta hero appeared as
their heaven-sent deliverer,—a Rama slaying Ravana or a
Krishna slaying Kansa. This feeling breathes in every line of
the Hindu poet Bhushan's numberless odes on Shivaji. He
really voices in smooth and vigorous numbers the unspoken
thoughts of the millions of Hindds all over India. At the end
of the 17th century they had come to regard the Mughal
Gavernment as Satanic and refused to co-operate with it.

By appealing to this feeling, Baji Rao [ easily entered
Malwa and then made his hold upon that province good, He
united the local Hindu chieftains as well as the neighbouring
Rajputs of Jaipur and Mewar with the Mahrattas in an alliance
against the oppressors of their common religion ( dharma ).
This point comes out very clearly in Sawai Jai Singh's letter to
Nandalal Mandaloi ( thec haudhuri of Indor ), after the latter
had treacherously caused an immense slaughter of his master's
troops by his collusion with the Mahrattas { October 1731 )
*A thousand praises to you, because you, in sole reliance upon
my word and with a view to benefit your dharma, have
destroyed the Muslims in Malwa and firmly established dhrma
there. You have fulfilled my heart’s wishes.” [ Sardesai, ii.
360.

In the brief space of thirty-one years after Aurangzeb’s
death, his successors had to wage war, and more than once,
witht he Sikhs, Jats, Bundelas, Rathors, Kachhwaha, and Sisodi-
as. Thus, no Hindu tribe of military value was left on the side
of the Emperor. In addition to this, the Mahrattas were an
open sore which drained the life-blood of the Empire and
steadily reduced its size. The Hindus not only ceased to be
loyal wvassals or the Later Mughals, but became open enemics
against whom large forces had to be diverted by the Emperor
in his day of danger from foreign invasion.

[ %]



HADIR SHAH IN INDIA

The Persians are the cleverest race among the children of
Islam. But they stand aloof from the rest of the Muslim world
by reason of their belief in the hereditary right of the Prophet’s
son-in-law to his succession ( khilafar ). Their faith of Shia-ism
is & heresy in the eyes of the immense majority of Musalmans,
including those of MNorthern India, who are Sunnis. The
liberal Akbar, the self-indulgent Jahingir and the cultured Shah
Jahan had welcomed Shias in their camps and Courts and given
them the highest offices, especially in the secretariat and
revenue administration, in which their genius naturally shone
most. But the orthodox Aurangzeb had barely tolerated them
as a mnecessary evil. In his reign the Shias fell that they were
not wanted by him. Many striking examples of his anti-Shia
bias are found in his letters and the anecdotes  about him
compiled by his favourite Hamid-vd-din Khan. The populace
were  still more hostile to these heretics. The proposal of
Bahadur Shab to read the khutha with a single Shia epithet,
led to ariotat Lahore in 1712. Some vears later, at Hasana-
bad near the capital of Kashmir, 2,500 Shias were massacred
by the Sunnis. [K.K.ii. 870.] Thus, to the ambitious and
gifted Shia adventurers of Persia, India ceased to bea welcome
home, or a field where the highest career was open to theic
talent.

Weak Characrer of Later Mughals

The decline of the Mughal nobility was mainly due to the
decline in the character of the Emperor, because it is the first
duty of a sovercign to choose the right sort of servants and
give them opportunities for developing their talent and acquir-
ing experience by instructing and supervising them during their

& Ahkamd-Alangivi, ed, and tr. by ). Sarkar, sec. iv.
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MADIR SHAH IN INDIA

administrative. spprenticeship. In his private letters, Aurangzeb
frequently complains of the lack of able officers during his reign
as compared with the glorious days of Akbar and Shah Jahan :
nz na-yable-adami-i-tar ahl ahl  But the following wise saying
of the great Wazir Sadullah Khan, which Aurangzeb himself
quotes Wwith approval, is & deserved rebuke to such pessimism ;
“No age is wanting in able men ; it is the business of wise
masters to find them out, win them over, and get work done
by means of them, without listening to the culumnies of selfish
men agtinst them."” [Rugati-i-Alamgiri, MNo. 46.]

In lact, the deterioration in the character of the Emperors
must be held to be the primary cause of the decline in the
character of the nobility and the downfall of the Empire. The
suspicious watchfulness of Aurangzeb and the excessive pater-
nal love of his successors kept the Princes a1t Court or caused
them to be over-chaperoned in their provincial Governments,
thus preventing the development of any initiative or business
capacity among them. The heirs to the throne of Dehli in the
18th century grew up utterly helpless and dependent upon
others, without any independence ol thought, fearlessness in
assuming responsibility, or capacity to decide and act promptly.
Their intellect and spirits were dulled and they found diversion
only in the society of harem women, buffoons and flatterers.
When such Princes came to the throne, if they were wise they
would leave the entire administration in the hands of able
Wazirs,—which provoked [facitous envy among the other
ministers ; and if they were foolish, they constantly resorted
to intrigue for subverting one too powerful minister only to fall
into the hands of another,

The faineani Emperor could not and would not govern the
country himsell, and yet he had not the wisdom to choose the
right man as his Wazir and give him his full confidence and
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support, He was t.-nsil}' led away by the whispers of eunuchs
and fatterers, and issued orders for the dismissal of old
ministers and provincial governors in the vain hope of getting
motre money or greater servility from their successors,

Thus the nobles found that career was nol open to talent,
that loyal and useful service was no sccurily against capricions
dismissal and degradation, that their property and family
honour were nol always safe in such a Court.  Their only hope
of personal safely and advancemenl lny in asserting their
independence and establishing provincial dynasties of their
own. And such & course was also conducive to the pood of
the people of the provinee. They could enjoy peace and
prosperity only under an independent local dynasty, For, so
long as their rulers were sent from the distant [mperial Court,
every succeeding day a new favourite might beg or buy the
viceroyalty, come with a new letter of appointment, and try to
oust his predecessor. Whether these attempts succeeded or
Failed, the result was the same : the province was filled with
war and the rumours of war, plunder, the withholding of
taxes, and the closing of the roads. The history of Gujarat
under Mohammad Shah graphically illustrates the point.

Formation of Factions at Cour! and its effects

When Nadir Shah invaded India, the three highest ministers
of State were Asal Juh Nizam-ul-mulk (the Wak/l-i-mutlag or
Regent Plenipotentiary), [timad-ud-daulah Qamar-ud-din Khan
(the Wazir or Chancellor) and Khwaja Asim entitled Samsam-
ud-daulah Khan Dauran (the Amir-uf-umarae and Bakhshi-ul-
mamalif or Head of the Army).  Among the provincial gover-
nors the highest (if we exclude the Nizam and the semi-indepen-
dent subahdar of Bengal) was Saadat Khan Burhan-ul-mulk,
the subahdar of Oudh and most prominently in the running
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for a ministership at Court. OF these, we may leave Khan
Dauran out, as he was a carpet knight and Court Aatterer,
without any administrative capacity or experience. The
Nizam had been born in Samargand and had migrated
to India in boyhood to seek his fortune under the Mughal
banner. The same was the case with Qamar-ud-din Khan the
Wazir, who was his cousin, Saadat Khan was a native of
Khurasan and had entered India as an adventurer early in the
18th century. These men could feel no patriotism for India,
because India was not their patria. They had nothing at
take in this country, no share in its past history, traditions
and culture, no heriditary loyalty to its throne. The Mughal
Emperor was merely their paymaster, and il they could make
better terms with his epemy, they were not such fools ag
to reject them out of a sentimental love for a land which
merely gave them an excellent field for the display of their
undoubted talents and promised them a rich reward. It was
only in the succeeding generations that their families became
rooted in the Indian soil,

When the Emperor was a sluggard or a fool, he ceased to
be the master and guide of the nobility, They then natwrally
turned to win the controlling authority at Court orin the
provinces. This selfish struggle necessarily ranged the nobles
in factions, each group or bloc trying to push the fortunes of
its members and hinder the success of its rival groups. The
Dihli Court under the Later Mughals was divided between the
Turani {or Central Asian) and the Hindustani parties, *—both
Mubammadans, while ithe Hindu Rajahs sided with the latter.
Each faction tried to poison the ears of the Emperor against

& In the second half of the 18th century the division
was between the Irani { Persian Shia ) and Tuarani
{ Sunni) parties.
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the other, thwart its plans, stir up its disconlented servants,
and even enpage in active hostility to it when at a distance
from the Court. Rebels could not be opposed with all the
armed strength of the Empire ; they could always count upon
seeret supporlers or at least neutral make-believe opponents in
the tmperial Court and camp.

This moral degradation of the nobllity was accompained
by the intellectual bankruptcy of the bureaucracy, and indeed
of the entire governing classes. There was no far-sighted
leader, no clearly thought-out and steadily-pursued scheme of
national advancemenl as under Akbar. No political genius
arose to teach the country # new Philosophy of life or to
kindle aspirations after a new heaven on earth. They all
drifted and dozed in admiration of the wisdom of their
ancesiors and shook their heads at  the growing degeneracy of
the moderns,

The Mughal Empire had aimed merely at being & police
Government ; and therefore when it could not do its police
function well, when it failed w0 maintain internal order and
exiernal peace, it lost its sole reason for existing, The life of
the country had hitherto been held together by the Court.
Hence, when the throne was filled by puppets, dissolution
took place in the bond that held the people together and
co-ordinated their efforts and ambitions. Governmenl ceased
and anarchy began,

On the eve of Madir Shah’s invasion, the Jats by their depre-
dations had made the roads near the capital unsafe and hindered
rade and raffic. The Mahrattas by their regular annval
‘nearsions at first and their permanent Jlodgment in the frontier
srovinces (Gujarat, Malwa and Bundelkhand) afterwards, hled
the Empire to death. The production of wealth was stopped not
<nly as the direct result of their exiortion and ravage, but also

[ 9]
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indirectly through the discouragement of industry and thrift
which such insecurity of property creates,

The frequent civil contests, whether among the Princes and
nobles, or between the Government and rebellious subjects,
spread a sense of insecurity among the taxpayers. The peasants
withheld the land revenue, which was the mainstay of the
Government, and the lower officials evaded delivering thair
collections. The victor in the contest might crush the defayl-
ting ryots and peculating rafisildars and turn them out of House
and hold, but by doing so he ruined himself all the same, as his
only source of income was gone; he had only swelled the
number of desperate, homeless, roving brigands and reduced
the area under tillage. .

The profuse bounty of Nature to this country, ils temperate
climate which reduces human want, and the abstemious hubits
of its people, all combined to increase the national income of
India throughout the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. The
huge “annual addition to the national stock™ ultimately made
its way to the hands of the governing classes,—if we leave oul
the small portion that was intercepted by the trader and the
revenue-farmer. The wealth of India was the wonder and 'envy
of other nations. But the Mughal Court and Mughal aristo-
cracy had not the sense 10 insure this wealth by spending &
sufficient portion of it on efficient national defence and the
improvement of the people’s intellect and character by a wise
system of public education. Their wealth only made their
weakness fatal to them and tempted the foreign invader by
asguring him of a success as easy as the booty was large.

A Government which could not maintain order at home
was still less likely to command respect abroad. The weukness
of the Central Government was soonest felt in the frontier
provinces : Malwa and Afghanistan were not guarded in

[ 10]
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MHADIR SHAH IN INDIA

strength. The Mahratta occupation of Malwa brought Dihli
within striking distance of their arms, and Baji Rao in 1737
insulted the capital, pillaged and burnt its suburbs and retur-
ned to his base with perfect immunity. The defencelessness of
Afzhanistan brought Nadir Shah to India.

Decline of the Safawi monorchy and
Afghan usurpation of Persia

The Safawi dynasty founded by Shah [smail at the begin-
ning of the 16th century, freed Persia from foreign rule and the
wars of domineering nomad tribes. The new line of kings gave
the country peace, prosperity and extension of territory, The
faith of the people, which had been persecuted by the former
rulers as a heresy, now became the State religion. Wealth and
civilization increased, and Persia again took her ancient position
as one of the world’s famouos and independent monarchies, the
rival of Turkey and Hindustan, in the eyes of the Muslim
waorld,

For nearly a century and a half afier the founder, 2 succe-
ssion of wise, warlike and active kings maintained the strength
and glory of Persia. But about the middle of the 17th century
began the inevitable decline in the monarchy from & continuous
decline in the character of the monarch. In the words of the
historian Sir John Malcolm, during the century following the
death of Abbas the Grear (1627), the Persian throne was occu-
pied by “a succession of weak, cruel and debauched monarchs
......... The lower orders became every day more unwarlike and
weennen-Ce8sed to be able to defend the State......... The nation
may be said to have existed on the reputation it had acquired
before.” [ Hiv. of Persia, 2nd ed., i 379.]

Shal Husain, the last of the Safawi line, who reigned from
1694 to 1722, was no doubt free from vice ; but he went to the
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opposite extreme of meekness and religious bigotry, and did
still greater harm than his dissolute predecessors. He placed
the administration entirely in the hands of the priests and thus
alienated the old martial and official nobility. Under the advice
of the keepers of his conscience, the king persecuted and
banigshed from the land the Sufi Philosophers as heretics from
[slamic orthodoxy, and thus enraged the intellectoal classes,
Bul the prestige of his worthier ancestors had given the state o
momentum which made it continue to go on for nearly twenty
years longer.

At last early in the 18th eentury the dissolulion came, and
from the hands of its Afghan subjects. Ever since Abbas I's
conquest of Qandahar early in the 17th century, Southern
Afghanistan had been a province of Persia, 1t was the home
of the Ghilzai and Abdali tribes. The wise statesmanship of
the earlier Shahs had left the subject races of the Persian
Empire under their own laws, and often under their own
magistrates, The turbulent character of the Afghan people, the
wildness of their country and their position on the debatable
land between the rival monarchies of India and Persia, enabled
them to extort for themselves a considerable amount of loeal
independence. Their submission to the Central Government
was lax and dependent on their own pleasure. In 1708, a new
Persian governor of Qandahar, the converted Armenian Gurgin
Khan, by trying to rule with a strong hand, caused an
explosion. The Ghilzal tribe rose under Mir Wais, killed the
governor, seized Qandahar and established their own rule there.

The successiul rebel’s son Mahmud gained the throne of
Qandahar in 1717 and led his tribe on to the plunder of the
effete king and people of Persia. The Safawi Empire now
broke to pieces. Mahmud captured the capital Isfahan, and
on 21st October 1722 Shah Husain Safawi resigned his

[ 12 ]
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ancesctor’s throne and the Afghan rule over Persia
began.  Mahmud wus succeéeded by his uncle's  son
Ashraf in 1725. But new dangers threatened the conquerors.
Qandahar was held by Mahmud's brother, whom Ashral could
not oust from the fort. Thus the Ghilzai tribe became divided
under two chiely reigning at two distant places, The governor
of Sistan annexed nearly 8ll Khurasan and proclaimed his
independence, But Ashral®s greatest enemy was Mirza
Tahmasp, the son of the deposed Shah Husain, who had
assumed the royal title and was trying to establish his power in
the province of Mazendran. This Prince was a foolish, effemi-
nate and debauched wvouth, and could not have recovered his
heritage by his own efforts. But he was now joined by Nadir
Quli, the greatest Asiatic general of that age. [ Maleolm, i,
401-465.)

Nadir delivers Persia and makes Himself King

Nadir Quli was the son of Imam Quli, a poor Turkoman
of the Afshar tribe long settled in Khurasan, who carned his
bread by making coats and caps of sheepskin Nadir was
born in 1688 and passed his early years amidst great hardship
and privation, which only called forth his extraordinary genius
and energy. He was carried away to Tartary by the Uzbak
raiders and kept there as a prisoner for four years. On
returning home he served under some petty chiefs and finally
took to a life of robbery with his own band of hardy and
adventurous followers. The eclipse of Government during
the Afghan usurpation of Persia enabled him to pursue such
a career with safety and much profit in the ill-controlled
frontier province of Khurasan. Seizing the fort of Kalat by
murdering his own uncle (who was its governor), he used the
power thus gained to defeat the Afghan ruler of Khurasan

[ 13 ]
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and recover the city and district of Naishabar. This victory in
the national cause secured his welcome by his lawful king
Shah Tahmasp, whose service he enlered in 1727. [ Malcolm, ii
25 ; MU, i. 823.]

The fame of Nadir drew the best recruits to his side and
lie became the centre of the Persian national effort (o throw
‘off the foreign vyoke. His genius for war and diplomacy and
his concentration of all authority in his hands led to his rapid
and unbroken success. Persia was recovered [rom the Alghans,
very few of whom returned to their own country from the
slaughter on the bartle field or murder at the hands of the
incensed peasantry. The Afghan domination had been a seven
years' horror to the afflicted people of Persia. “Within seven
years nearly & million of her inhabitants had perished, her
finest provinces had been rendered deseri, and her proudest
edifices levelled with the dust; and this by enemies who had
neither the force nor the wisdom to maintain the conguest.”
[Malcolm, i. 472.) The national deliverance of Persia was the
work of MNadir alone, and naturally the enthusiasm of the
people for him was unbounded. The king showed his gratitude
by granting to the general half the kingdom with a richly-
jewelled crown and the night of stamping coins with his name.

But during Nadirsa bsence in the eastern provinces, the
king, who had injudiciously conducted expeditions in the West,
lost his general's gains in that direction and made a humiliating
peace.  The national indignation was very greal. The officers
of the army Ffelt that if Shah Tahmasp were left at the head of
affairs, he would only undo all their recent work and bring
back national servitude They with one voice urged Nadir to
assume the crown. [ Anandram, 34 Malcolm, ii. 8—II.] But
though Tahmasp was deposed, 26 August 1732, his general did
not as yet venture to sit on the throne. Abbas, an eight-month

[ 14 ]
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old son of Tahmasp, was proclaimed king, and Nadir became
his regent with full authority, Four years later the infant
died, and Nadir became king with the title of Shahan Shah
Nadir Shah, 26th February 1736,

He wrested Armenia and Georgia from the Turks, and
made a peace with the Russians by which he gained the lost
provinces bordering the Caspian. The island of Bahrain was
recovered from the Arabs. Next, the predatory Bakhtiari
tribe of the Shuster hills was vanquished and enrolled in his
army,—thus diverting their energies into a useful channel and
keeping them from disturbing the peace [ Malcolm, ii. 11-18.]

Finally, early in 1737 Nadir Shah started with 80,000 men
against Qandahar. So long as (hat centre of independent
Afghan power was not destroyed, it would remain a4 menace
to the safety ol Persin and constantly disturb the peace and
prosperity of Khurasan, Moreover, without the conguest of
Qandahar the full heritage of the Safawis could not be said to
have come into his possession. This fort stood on the route
of his advance to the Mughal Empire and he wished to enlist
the Afghans under his banners to assist him in his foreign
conquests, #5 Mahmud of Ghazni had done seven centuries
before.

Qandahar was now in the possession of Husain, the younger
brother of Muhmud ( the usurping king of Persia ). The old
city * stood on the eastern slope-of a ridge, two miles west of
the modern city. 1ts walls were of extreme strength and the
garrison had made preparations for 2 good defence. The
Persian army invested it on 30th March 1737, but Lhe siege

# For a description of the fort and itz walls, see
1. Sarkar's Mistory of Awrangzil, i 140-143,
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dragged on for a year, and the fort fell * only on 12th March
1738. The fort and city were dismantled by the viclor. In ils
environs he built a new city with quarters for the governor and
soldiers, which was named Nadirabad by him, but is now
known as modern Qandahar, He treated the dofeated Afghan
tribesmen  very kindly, -released all the prisoners taken,
bestowed pensions on the tribal chiefs, enlisted the clansmen
in his army and by transplanting the Ghilzais to Naishabur
and other places in Khurasan ( the former homes of the
Abdalis ) and posting Abdali chieftains as governors of
Afghanistan { Qandahar, Girishk, Bist and Zamin-dawar ),
kept his former enemies usefully employedin his service, His
policy was to tempt the other Afghan forts to surrender to him
by creating a reputation for himself as a merciful enemy and
liberal master, and to enlist the Afghan soldiers under his
banners as devoted supporters of his projected conquests of
Central Asia and India. [ Jahankwusha, 311-328 ; Malcolm, ii.
20 ; Anandram, &8, ]

After the fall of Qandahar came the turn of the Mughal
Empire ; and here Nadir made oul a strong case for declaring
war, He procesded in such & way as to ensure that ncutral
States and lovers of international law would not be able to
condemn his invasion of India as an act of wanton aggression
and spoliation. Nadir was no mere soldier, no savage leader
of a savage horde, but & master of diplomacy and statecraft as
well as of the sword. The profoundness of his diplomacy was
no less remarkable than the greatness of his generalship in war
and the wisdom of his policy o the vanquished after his
victories in the field.

& Anandram, P. 7, says, lo treachery,
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Causes of the Diplomatic Rupture between
the Persian Government and
the Mughal Empire

The conduct of the effete Court of Dibli towards Persin had
been marked by viclation of diplomatic usage and courtesy
and even by unfriendly negligence. For several generations
past there had been an exchange of envoys, presents and
diplomalic courtesies between the Mughal Emperors of India
and the Safawi Shahs of Persia. Abbas Il continued this
priactice even after he had wrested Qandahar from Shah Jahan
and fought four campaigns against Mughbal arms. At all
events, formal letiers of congratulation used to be written
by the one Court to the other at every new accession to the
throne. But Muhammad Shah, forgetting this usage, neglected
to felicitate Shah Talmasp 11 after he had overthrown the
Afghan vsurper and recovered the throne of his ancestors.
May, the Dihli Government, no doubt aut of a timid love of
quiet, had kept up friendly relations with Mir Wais and his
gon Husain ( the usurpers of Qandahar ), though the latter had
raided the province of Multan and ravaged the imperial
territory,

Alter the expulsion of the Afghans from Persia, Nadir had
sent All Mardan Khan Shamlu as ambassador to India to
inform the Dihli Court that a campaign against the Afghans
of Qandahar would be soon undertaken, *and to request
that the Emperor would order his subahdar of Kabul to

* All Hazin says that Shah Tahmasp 11, after recovering Isfahan, senl ong
of his nobles lo India as envoy Lo reporlt his sccession and to request
Muhammad Shah to kecp the Ghilzais out of his territory; and that
after the sccession of the infunt Abbas 11, a similar message was sent,
But Jahankusha, 331, shows that both these embassies were senl by Nadir.
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prevent these Afghans from escaping into his territory.
Muhammad Shah replied that he had issued instructions to
this effect and would reinforee the army in Kabul to have this
work done.

After some time Nadir sent a second messenyer,
Muhammad Ali Khan, with a similar request, and the Dihli
Government replied in the same terms. When early in 1737
the Persians invested Qandahar and the local Afghans began
to flee northwards into Mughal Afghanistan, Nadir desputched
a force to Ulang Muragha, in the Qalat district, which was his
last outpost on the Perso-Mughal frontier, to bar the path of
the retreating Ghilzais. This detachment ravaged the country
up to the end of the hills of Kalat, slaying about a thousand
Ghilzais and capturing much booty and many prisoners. The
rest of the tribe fled into Mughal territory, towards Ghazni
and Kabul, there being no Mughal officer or army on the
frontier to obstruct them. The Persian generals, not having
received orders 1o cross the frontier, stopped there and reported
the affair to their master. Nadir Shah then ( 30th April 1737)
sent a third envoy, Muhammad Khan Turkoman, to India by
way of Sindh, to ask for an explanation of this breach of
promise on Lhe part of the Emperor. The messengér was
ordered to spend not more than forty days in India, but bring
a reply within that period. The Dibli Court, however, would
give him neither a reply nor the permission to return. Tts
imbecile policy is thus described by Ali Hazin: *'As soon as
this envoy arrived at Shahjahanabad he delivered his letter
and was told to wait ; but they were silent as to any answer,
Sometimes (hey were unable to agree in their own minds on
the question of writing any answer at all ; at other times they
were perplexed [ asto] what titles they should use to Nadir
Shah...... Thinking the detention of the ambassador a stroke
of State policy, they waited to see, if perchance Husain the
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Afghan with the troops besieged in Qandahar gained the
victory over Nadir Shah, and destroyed him or put him to
flight ; on which evenl there would be no need of writing any
answer to his letter.”

A year passed away in this way, and then after the [all of
Qandahar, Nadir wrote to his envoy in India (o return at
once. The matter had passed bevend the stage of correspon-
dence and discussion, Nadir had decided on invading India.
|Jahankuska, 331-332; Belfour's ANl Hazin, 281-287 ( which is
paraphrased in Siyar, i. 93-94 )]

Neglected and defenceless condition of
Afehanistan and the Panjab

At this point it is necessary to stop the narrative of events
and look at the condition of the provinces forming the North-
western [rontier of the Mughal Empire. Afghanistan had been
i precarious  possession and  source of weakness to the
successors of Babar, but they had succeeded in occupying the
country and keeping the passes from India open. The earlier
Mughal Emperors had repeatedly visited Kabul. But during
the long reign of Aurangzeb, the imperial authority there was
seriously imperilled. The formidable rebellion, first of the
Yusufzais of Peshawar ( 1667 ) and then of the Afridis. of
Khaibar { 1672 ), was aggravated by a rising of the Pathan
population along the entire North-western frontier against
the ruler of Dihli. The resources of the whole Empire bad
to be concentrated under the Emperor's personal command
against the tribesmen. After only a modified success
Aurangzeb returned from the frontier where he had now
spent two vears, and peace of a sort was restored by profuse
bribery to the border Afghans (1676), Next year Amir
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Khan # was appointed governor of Kabul and he held the
post for 21 years with conspicuous ability and success,
Aurangzeb ascribes this viceroy's administralive trivmph o
his tactful dealings, practical skill. policy of keeping the hillmen
usefully employed by enlisting them in the imperinl army,
and his judicious and economical management of the treasury,
which enabled him to puy regular subsidies lo the clansmen
living near the passes.

When Amir Khan died ( 1698 ), he was [ollowed by
ne worthy successor.  Alter a short lull, trouble began Lo
revive. But Shah Alam, who governed the provinee [rom
1699 1o his Father's death in 1707, kept order Fairly well,
He had a large and efficient army, and used Lo move
about the country 4 good deal, passing the winter al
Peshawar ( which was then included in Afganistan ), and
the summer at Kabul or Bamian; but he was forced to
continue the policy of bribing the pass Afghans 1o main-
tain peace. In 1709 or 1710, Nasir Khan, formerly Faujdar
of Jamrud, was appointed subahdar of Kabul, and he
continued to hold this post till his death, about 1719, when
his son, also entitled Wasir Khan, succeeded him and was
later confirmed in his office by Muhammad Shal { 1720 ).
This second Masir Khan's mother was of the Afghan race
and he was expected to succeed easily in ruling the province
and keeping the passes open. [ M, U. 111, 833, ]

But he was a simple-minded and indolent man. His
chief business was hunting, and when not engaged in il he
spent his time in prayer. [ Sivar, i. 93. | Thus, the peace of
the country was left to take care of itself, and the roads became
unsafe. His patron at Court was Roshan-ud-daulah, a favourite

# Bee ), Savkar's History of Awrangzih, iii. { 2nd ed. ) 243,
and Stucdles fn Mughal fudia, TIT—117,
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of the Emperor, and the imperial grant for payments to
keep the passes open was sent to MNasir Khan throvgh the
hands of this noble, Roshan-ud-daulah’s rival Khan Dauran
accused him of embezzling the money, and induced the
Emperor 1o stop this payment a5 ustless. Nasic Khan's
appeals were disregarded, About 1730 Roshan-ud-daulah
himsell’ fell out of favour and was dismissed, The vesult
was that things in Afghanistan were left to drift without the
least hope of remedy.

As Gholam Husain writes, “MNeither the subahdar nor
the Amir-aul-umara [ at Court | kept himsell informed about
the roads and passes of the country. No guards remained
on the roads. Owing to the weakness of the Government,
the local officers lost all fear of being called to account
Mone cared Tor any one clse, none feared, nont sought
instructions from any [ higher officer | Everywhere every
one did whatever he liked, Any one who wished could
come and go [ through these frontier roads, unguestioned ] :
the Emperor and his nobles never heard ol it. They never
inquired why no news letter was coming Lo Court from
any province or outpost.” [ Sivar, L. 93, |

When we contrast this pegligence and slothfulness of
Muhammad Shah with the sleepless vigilance » of Aurangzeb
in respect of the Persian Trontier, we can realise the depth
of inefficiency lo which the Mughal administration had fallen
on the eve of Nadir Shah's invasion.

The governor of Kabul had senlt repeated applications
to the Emperor for money to pay his troops: but nobody
paid any heed to them, as the [action opposed 1o him

¥ Striking Illustrations in Hunﬁd»-ud-u_im‘s Alboami=-Aleengive
49-52, translated by 1. Baikar as Anecdores af Awrangeil,
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was now in power al Court and the Emperor never exercised
his own judgment nor personally looked into any business.
The soldiers posted in the province starved as
their salary for five vyears was in arrears. [ll-fed, ill-
equipped, ill-armed through poverty, they pressed the subahdar
to pay them at least one year's dues out of the five, so that they
might satisfy their ereditors to some extent and have a little left
over for the expenses of marching. MNasir Khan used to reassure
them by saying, “Friends ! why this anxiety 7 1 have wrilten
to the Emperor and also to my agent at Court, and the money
is sure to come lo-morrow, il not to-day.” When his agent
presented the application to Khan Dauran, the Amir-ul-umara,
and in fear and trembling, described the alarming situation in
Afghanistan, that noble replied in derision, *'Do you think that
I am a petiy simpleton that I shall be impressed by such a tale
as yours 7 Qur houses are buill on the plain ; we do not fear
anything except what we can see with our own eyes. Your
_houses stand on lofty hills, and therefore you have probably
sighted Mongol and Qizilbash armies from the roofs of your
houses'! Reply to your master that we are writing for money to
the governor of Bengal ; and when the Bengal revenue arrives
after Lhe rainy season, the money due will be quickly sent to
Kabul.™  * (Anandram, 11-12.)

Those people of Dihli whoe bore testimeny to the defenceless
condition of Afghanistan, were sneered at as fools. Khan
Dauran’s friends even suggesied that the deputation of Kabul
citizens with this report had been stage-managed by the Wazir

*® On this Anandram rightly remarks = “If the Afghans had been set to guard
the fronlier with their whole hearts and customary bravery, they could
have stopped the advance of the Persian army long enough (o enable
reinfarcements o reach them from Dihli, and then Tndia would not have
bean sacked.™
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and the Nizam ( the leaders of the Turani faction ), in order
to discredit Khan Dauran and induce the Emperor to transfer
his confidence to the former party | [ Siyar, i. 96, ]

The result is best described in the words of Ghulam
Husain :  “Il was impossible [or MNasir Khan to prevent Madir
Shah's entrance into Indin. The Government was rotten, the
Emperor was powerless, No money was sent to maintain the
administration in  Afghanistan. The Subahdar, therefore,
sought his ewn comfort and lived at Peshawar, entrusting the
fort of Kabul to a gifadar with orders to contral and watch the
passes leading into India." [Siyar, i.94.]

Equally neglected and defenceless was the next gateway of
India, the province of the Panjab. Zakariva Khan (son of
Abdus Samad Khan) was the governor of Lahore and Multan.
His family had come from Ahrar in Central Asia, and thersfore
he was regarded as "a strong pillar of the Turani party.” His
mother was a sister of the late Wazir Muhammad Amin Khan's
wife. and he naturally. execited the bitter opposition of the
Hindustani party under Khan Dauran, *Zakariyva Khan was a
brave and active soldier and good administrator ; he gave peace
and prosperity to the province in his charge by repeated
campaigns against rebels and robbers. [ M. U, ii. 106 ;
Anandram, 138. ] But the Hindustani party who possessed
the Emperor’s ears, opposed all his applications 1o court,
misrepresented his character and motives and prevented money
and troops from being sent to him when Nadir's invasion was
imminent.

= An astonishing exaniple of this party rancour is supplied by Ihe historian
Shakir Khan ( an Indian Mubgmmadan of Panipal ), who asseris that
Zakariva Khan af the instigation of the Nizam and Saadat Khan, who
wanted Lo overlhrow Khan Dauran, disloyally  admitted Nadiv into
Lahore !
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Thus, in the Emperor's hour of supreme need, factious
jealousy and [oolish distrust prevented any real altemptl being
made to repel the invadar from the lrontier, or even to check
him there long enough to enable delensive preparations o be
completed ut Dihli and the army of the Empire marshalled in
the Panjab. The *galeways ol India’ fell inte Nadir's hands at
the first touch, and yet the foolish Emperor and his advisers
delayed their own preparations for defence in the vain hope of
the enemy not heing able 1o force the passes of Afghanistun
and the rivers of the Panjab,

. Such wasthe condition ol the norh-western marches of India
when the storm buist on them.

Nadir conquers Northern Afehanistan
from the Mughals

On 10th May 1738, the Persian monarch  began  his
march into Northern Afghanistan to make an end of his
Afghan enemies. Crossing the Muoghal frontier at the
Mukhur spring, he halted at Quraubagh, 36 miles s.w. of
Ghazni. A powerful detachmenl was sent under his younger
son Nasr-ullah to operate against the Afghans of Ghorband
and Bamian in  the north-west of Kabul. When Nadir
reached Qarabagh, Bagi Khan the Mughal governor of
Ghazni fled away in terror ; the qazis, scholars and rich
men of the city waited on the invader with presents and
oifer of submission. So. he enlered Ghazni in peace, 31st
May, and treated the people well. :

Two other detachments had been operating against the
Hazaras or il Afghans, south-west of Ghazni, who had
defied Nadir's troops. All who made timely submission
were pardoned. But the men who resisted were put to the
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sword, their women dragged into captivity and their houses
destroyed. Thus securing his flank and rear, Nadir advanced
on Kabul. The chief men of the city tried to avert the
storm by advancing lwo marches to welcome him on the
way, and he sent them back with robes of honour, presents
and reassuring words. But Sharza Khan, the commandant
of the citadel, with the soldiers of the garrison, decided
to offer resistance, and, shutting the fort-gates, prepared
for defence.

On 10th June, MNadir’s advance tents arrived near the
fort, but a part of the garrison sallied oot and made a
hostile demonstration. The porters were not prepared for
resistance, and therefore, declining the challenge, they quietly
set up the lents at a safe distance [rom the walls, at
Ulang, Half league to the east of the city. MNadir arrived
here on the Llth, and next day he rode out towards the
Black Rock to view the environs of the city and the
defences of its citadel. The garrison issued in force and
began to discharge their fire-arms at him ; but a charge
of the Persian escort drove them back to the foot of the
wall. Nadir now began an investment of the city. His
guns and mortars, dragged up to the neighbouring heights,
played upon the walls. On the seventh day ( 19th June )
the tower of Aqa-bin collapsed from the shock of a big
gun fired from it, and a part of the wall © fell down ;
the citadel capitulated, and the Imperial treasury, horses,
elephants and stores at  Kabul passed into Nadir’s
possession. [ Jahankusha, 333-335, |

= Anandram 10. He iells the incredible story that the breach thus caused
was large enough to let 500 horsemen gallop through it abreast. The recoil
of a single gun could nol have overthrown a quarter-mile of stopewall.
Hanway { ji. 359 ) say that Nadir massacred the greater part of the garrison
including Sharza Khan and his son, after the fall of Kabul,
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Here he passed forty days to settle the affairs of the
province, and here he was joined ( Ist July ) by his son
Masr-ullah who had returned after subduing Ghorband
and Bamian. In the meantime, a fetler had been received
from his envoy at Dihli reporting that the Emperor would
neither reply wo his letter nor give the ambassador his
conge’. At this Nadir Shah wrote a strong protest (o the
Emperor and sent it with a fast courier accompunied by
some leading men of Kabul, who offered to explain the
real state of things in  Afganistan to the Mughal Court.
In this letter Nadir Shah charges Muhammad Shah with the
violation of his promise, delay in replying to embassies and
detention of the last Persian envoy for more than a year,
in violation of the usage of nations, He points out how
the Afghans had done even greater havoc to India than
to Persia, and therefore in crushing them he was really
doing u service to the Mughal Empire. He explains how
the hostility of the imperial garrison in Kabul and their
alliance with the Afghans had forced him to [fght them,
bul that after their submission he had guarded them from
harm, as his sole intention was the punishment of his
Afghan enemies. The party entrusted with this letter lelt
Kabul on 3rd July., On their reaching Jalalabad, the Kabull
notables were forced by the local governor to go back,
while the courier and his nine guards were robbed and
murdered by a neighbouring chieftain, the son of Mir Abbas.*

Meantime WNadir Shah had left Kabuol ( 19th July ) on
account of scarcity of provisions there, and moved into the
more fertile and populous hills of Chahar-ek-kar Najrad and
Safi. The hill-crests occupied by the local clansmen were
stormed and the vanquished were forced to submit and enter

* Jahankushe, 335—337, Ali Hazin, 288,
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the Persian military service. After passing 22 days here, he
started for Gandamak on 25th August.

Then came the news of the murder of the courier. The
Persian advanced guird made a sudden dash on Jalalabad and
seized the grain stored there. The governor fled, the chief
men submitted and yielded up the fort { 7Tth September ). But
the city was subjected to a massacre in punishment of the
attack on Nadir's courier.  The hill-fort of Mir Abbas’s son
was stormed, the men were put to the sword, and the women
( including his sister and wives ) were brought away to the
Persian camp as captives, [ Jahankusha, 337—339, Ali Hazin,
289. |

After spending some days in regulating the administration
of the country, the Persian king advanced to Bahar-Showlani
i to the south of Jalalabad. Tn view of his expected long
ahsence in India, the distance of Dihli from his base in Persia,
and probably also the accidents of war, Nadir Shah invested
his eldest son Mirza Raza Quli with the crown of the deputy-
king or regent of persia ( 3rd November ), and sent him back
to that country amidst great pomp at the head of a strong
force.

1 Bahar 17 m. 5. w. of Jalalabad ; Showlani
{ spellt Safff in Johankusha ) 8 m.e. of Bahar,
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CHAPTER Il

NADIR SHAH'S INVASION OF INDIA.
NADIR SHAH CAPTURES
PESHAWAR AND LAHOR.

On 6th MNovember 1738, the march towards India was
resumed. The main army under Nadir Shah passed Jalalabad
on the 12th and halted a mile beyond it. From this stage a
vanguard of 12,000 picked cavalry proceeded ahead, followed
by another body of 6,000 men to guard the royal tents. Then
came the Centre and the Rear.

Masir Khan, the Mughal governor of Afghanistan, was,
according to his wsual custom, living at Peshawar when he
heard of Nadir's eonguest of Kabul and projected invasion of
India. He assembled some 20,000 Afghans of the Khaibar and
Peshawar districts and blocked the pass between All Masjid and
Jamrud,—the last outpost being 12 miles west of Peshawar.
His half-starved soldiery and hastily-raised tribal levies were in
no condition to oppose the Persian wveterans flushed with a
hundred victories and led by u heaven-born general,

In the afternocon of 14th November, after the asar prayer,
MNadir Shah left his camp and baggage at Barikab (20 m. cast
of Julalabad) under MNasr-ullah Mirza and made & rapid march
with light kit by the Seh-chuba route. Though the path was
steep and extremely rough, he covered fifty miles belore eight
o'clock next morning and fell upon the Indian army in the
Khaibar Pass most unexpectedly from the flank. One charge
of the Persians scattered Masir Khan's raw levies ; but he resis-
ted with his regular treops for some hours ; in the end he and

[ 28 ]



NADIR SHAH IN INDIA

several other nobles were captured ;  the rest of his army fled,
leaving their entire camp and property in the hands of the
victors. [Jahankusha, 341-342 ; Ali Hazin 290.]

Three days after the vietory, the Persian camp and reargunrd
arrived there by the regular road. On 18th November Nadir
entered Peshawar without opposition and occupied the gover-
nor's palace. On 12th December the advance was resumed.
A strong column under Aga Muhammad was sent ahead to
raid and ravage the country and build a bridge over the Indus
at Attock, Daoring this onward march the other five rivers of
the Panjab were crossed on foot, as they were all fordable in
that season. The Chinab was crossed at Wazirabad aboul
60 m.n.w. of Lahor, (8th January 1739).

Zakariya Khan, the governor of Lahor, though unsupported
by his master, had made what defensive arrangements he could
with his own limited respurces. Some five thousands of his
men, under Qalandar Khan, held the fort of Kacha Mirza + at
Yaminabad, 30 miles north of Lahor, as an advanced post,
while the governor himsell stood with the bulk of his army

* Mahd| says that Nasir Khan drew up his troops in line of batthe and
resisted the Persians for some time.  Siyar (1 95) says that this geoseral
was caplured, wounded and then revenled his name and rank, Ananderam
(13) assorts that Masir Kh, was surprised while asleep in bed, and fled in
confusion with Chirngh Beg Khan and & lew other altendants. Hanway
(ii. 362) tells us that Nadie bought over the pass Alghans whom thie Dihli
Court had kept in arrears for 4 years, and thus he could cross the pass
easily and unopposed, Nasir Khun deserted by his raw levies at the
unexpected npproach of Nadir, entrenched himsell nesr Peshawar with
T.000 men, and fought for seme hours ; but his lines were stormed and his
men slain or captured. Al Hazin (280} says that nn immense crowd of the
Afghans and of Masir Kh.'s troops were cul o pitces in the valley.

¢ There is o Kot Mirzagan, a lide eust of Yaminabad, in the Indian
Atlas.
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(probably ten or twelve thousand men) ten miles south, at the
Bridge of Shah Daula. The Persian vanguard * took the fort,
killed Qalandar Khan, and drove his troops away., At the
news of il, Zakariya Khan fell back on Lahor, and Nadir
advanced to the Bridge of Shah Daula, 20 miles north of that
city. From this place, Abdul Bagi Khan, the Persian Wazir,
wrote to Zakariya Khan advising him to submit and thus
avoid useless bloodshed, [fohankusha, 343, Hanway, ii. 365-66 ;
Anandram, 16-20.]

The bank of the Ravi, north of Lahor had been entrenched
by Zakariya Khan and big pieces of artillery mounted there to
oppose the Persian advance., On 10th January 1739, Nadir
marched from the Bridge of Shah Daula, made a wide detour
round Lahor, leaving the Mughal defences a long distance on
his left, forded the river further downstream and encamped in
the Shalimar garden, five miles east of the city, All that day
Zakariya Khan succeeded in repulsing the attempts of the
Persians to enter Lahor. The fighting was resumed next day
(11th January), but early in the morning the governor’s son
with & handful of men left the field and made his way to Dihli
by long marches. A large force of Indians under the Zamindar
of Adina-gar were coming to reinforce Zakariya Khan, when
they were overtaken by the Persian skirmishers at Mulkpur,
12 miles from Lahor, and dispersed, losing some captives.+

1

* Led by Masir Kh. ace. 10 Hanway, Zakariva's total army is put by Al
Hazin at 14 or 15 thousand regular horse and his own militia.

+ The Jahankusha, p 344, Is obscure, and the lithographed text is corrupl.
Adina Beg was Faujdar of Sultanpur, 66 m.s.e. of Lahor, at this lime
|Tilok Das's poem). | do not know any Adira-gar. There is o Narowar,
14 m.c. of Lahor, but no Mulkpur. Par may be Halbaipur-Pail.  The text
of the Jahankusha may also mean that these Indian troops forced their way
to Lahor,
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Zokariya Khan found resistance vain. No aid could come
from Dihli. So, in the afternoon he sent Kifayat Khan, his
agent, to Madir's camp to offer submission and beg for safely.
MNext day (12th January), he himself went to the victor, deli-
vered the keys of the forl and presented some large elephants
and rare commodities. MNadir treated him kindly, but fixed a
contribution of 20 lakhs of rupees on the city, part of which
was paid out of the Government treasury and the balance asse-
ssed on the rich people. On the 14th, the Khan visited the
Persian King a second time, paid the money and thus saved the
city from the horrors ol a sack. © He was received graciously,
presented with a robe of honour, an Arab horse with a gold
embroidered saddle and costly trappings, and jewelled sword
and dagger, and retained in the governorship of Lahor. But
his zecond son, Haiyat-ullah Khan, was keptin the Persian
king’s train at the head of 500 retainers, evidently as a hostage
for his father's Adelity.

Madir spent sixteen days at Lahor, Fakhr-ud-daulah, the
dismissed povernor of Kashmir, who had been living here
in grealt poverty and neglect, was reappointed by Nadir to
his post, Nasir Khan was released from captivity and
restored to the wvicerovalty of Kabul and Peshawar. A
Persian force was detached to guard the ferries and seize
the boats on the rivers of the Panjab and see that
travellers o and from the Persian army during its stay in
India could easily pass. Thus the flanks and rear of the
invaders were completely secured.

W

® Anandram, 23; Jahoankosha, 344 ; Al Hazin, 293. Bul Tilok
Das says that Lahor was plundersd after Madir's entry into it, and
thal the Persian king, though appealed to, did nothing to restrain his
soldiers. Al Lahor the invaders first saw the wealth of a large Indian
cily.
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AL Lahor it was definitely learnt that Muhammad Shah
had decided on war and was assembling his troops from
all sides of his kingdom to oppose the Persians. Nadir
then wrote a leller lo the Emperor, saying that as he was
& Turko-man and of the same race as the house of Timur,
his intentions were enlirely friendly to the Emperor of
Dihli. He repeated his former assertion that he had crossed
the Mughal [frontier solely to punish the Alghans who
were as much the enemies of India as ol Persia, and he
again complained that Muhammad Shah had treated all
his three envoys in violation of [riendship and diplomatic
usage. Lastly, Nadic warned the Mughal Court of the
consequences of going to war, though bhe held forth hopes
of his pardon, should the Indian army chiefs, after their
defeat, submil to him. | Jahankusha, 345-346, |

Madir's invasion spread ruin and disorder throughout
the Panjab. A cavalry screen was by his order sent ahead
to make swift raids ( turk-tazi ) and plunder the cities and
richer villages of the province and at the same time recon-
noitre the country 30 or 40 miles in advance of his army.
At Attack he had instructed his vanguard to plunder and
ravage without mercy, *Cities like Wazirabad, Yaminabad,
Gujarat, etc,, and big villages ( each like half a city )
were reduced to black ashes. All over the land property
was plundered and women outraged.” [ Anandram, 16 and
21,1 Tilek Das bears witness to the plunder of Lahore,
Jalandhar and evidently other towns on his route. But
this was not the only misery of the province. A foreign
invasion gives the wished-for opportunity o the lawless ;
oppressors and predatory classes, so long conttolled by
Government, raise their heads when they see the Government
engaged in sell-defence.  Shaikh Ali Haz. who was
travelling from Lahor to Sarhind at this time, thus describes
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-

the state of things (p. 292 ): "The whole province was
in complete revolution. Every person put forth his hand
to plunder and pillage, and some thousands of robbers
beset the public roads...The whole of that time, whether
on the road or at the [ halting | stations, passed in fighting
and contention.”

Nadir Marches from Lahore to Karnal

Leaving Lahore on 26th January 1739, Nadir Shah
reached Sarhind on 5th February. Here he leamnt that
Mubammad Shah was encamped with his army at Karnal,
eighty-two miles from him. A force of 6,000 cavalry was
sent ghead to reconnoitre the country up to the imperial
camp and report on the enemy's strength and dispositions.
Mext day the main army reached Rajah Sarai [ modern
Rajpura], 16 miles Southeast of Sarhind, and on the day
fallowing ( 7th February ) Ambala, 13 miles further east.
Here the Persian king left his harem and heavy baggage
under & strong escort, while he himsell marched out on
the 8th with a mobile fighting force and light artillery
carried on camels, and reached Shahabad, 17 miles eastof
Ambala, at the end of the day. This place was only 36
miles north of Karnal,

Meantime the Persian scouts had reached the ouwtskirts of
the Mughal camp in the night between the Tth and the Bth,
They had fallen upon the artillery, killed some men and
taken some others captive, and finally retired to Sarai
Azimabad, * 12 miles north of Kamal. The following night

¢ Azimabad i placed in the map accompanying Thorn's Menmoir
of the War and also Lett's Atlas anbout 3 miles north of Taraocri and
10 miles sputh of Thanesar, The Chabar Gulshan gives it as the singe
next fo Thanesar on the Dikli-Lahore road ( India of Aurangzib ).
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these captured Indians were produced before Nadir who
questioned them about the Mughal army. The party at
Azimabad was strengthened and warned to scout cautiously
without precipitating & battle. On the 10th, Nadir resumed
his march from Shahabad apnd reached Thanesar ( 13 m.
south ) that evening and Sarai Azimabad ( 10 m. further south )
an hour and a half after sunrise on the [1th,

This Sarai was a big stone and brick house, in which the
faujdar and chief men of Ambala had taken refuge. But as
soon as the Persian artillery began to play upon it, they cried
quarter. Here full information obtained about the lmperial
encampment at Karnal, which was only twelve miles off. We
must now furn lo the doings of Muphammad Shah and his
advisers. ( Jahankusha, 346-348 )

Proceedings of the Imperial Cowrt during
Nadir's Invasion

The proceedings of the Dikli Court during Nadir's invasion
form a tale of disgraceful inefficiency, amounting to imbecility.
The news of the loss of Kabul (19th June, 1738) must have
reached Dibli in the first week of July, but for several months
nothing was done to guard the frontiers, When Nadir crossed
the Khaibar Pass (15th Mov.), his motive could no longer be
mistaken, and yet for two months afterwards no energetic
step was taken to meet a danger now manifest to all.  True, on
2nd December 1738, the Emperor had formally given leave to
his three highest nobles, ltimad-ud-daulah, Qamar-ud-din Khan
(the wazic), Nizam-ul-mulk Asaf Jah (the Wakil or Regent) and
Samsam-ud-daulah Khan Dauran (the Amir-ul-umara and
Bakhshi or the head of the military department), to set
out against the invader, and one kror of rupees had been

[ 34 ]



HADIR SHAR 1IN INDIA

granted to them for their expenses. They encamped outside
Dihli in the Shalimar garden near Sarai Baoli and wasted full
one month there.®

The news of Madir Shah having crossed the river at Attock
must have reached Dikli on 10th Janwary, 1739, Then the
imperial army was urged to huery on. The Court still hoped
for much from the stand to be made by Zakariya Khan whom
they had refused to reinforce. But when that poor governor
proved no match for the world-conqueraor, the ery of treachery
was raised: the Hindustani party at Court falsely accused the
Khan of having disloyally surrendered Lahore fort to the

Persians, as he was a man from Khurasan like Nadir himself,
[ Shakir ]

At the first bruit of MNadir Shah's invasion, the imperial
Court had discovered its incompetence and summoned the
Nizam to give it counsel. He was the last survivor of the great
age of Aurangzeb, a grey-haired veteran of many fights, a man
rich in the experience of life, and an expert in diplomacy. But
the Nizam was not given the supreme command and dictatorial
authority which such a crisis required, nor did he enjoy the
confidence of his master whose ears were possessed by Khan
Dauran and the Hindustani party. This Khan Dauran had a
very high opinion of Rajput valour. He caused farmans to be
sent summoning to the Emperor’s aid his own proteges, the
Hindu Rajhas, especially Sawai Jai Singh. But Rajputana had
been hopelessly alienated since Aurangzeb’s time, and Jai Singh
and other chieftains were now aiming at political salvation by

# Hanway (i1 360) says that Khen Dauran stopped here owing to the
Mizam's jeajousy and discord. The Dbl Chronicle says that accountants
for their armies were appointed as late as 14th and 20th December,—they
took things so leisurely. No deubt, this manth (2. 31 Dec.) was Ramzan
or the month of fasting, Bot Aurangzeb had campaigned in Ramzan.
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declaring their independence and calling in the Mahratlas to
help in dissolving the Empire. The Rajahs made excuses and
delayed coming, Muhammad Shah even appealed to Baji Rao,
as we learn from the following letter of the Peshwa to his
general Pilaji Jadon !

"I shall march to Northern India by regular stages, The
Persian soversign Tahmasp Quii has come to conquer the
world. To help Muhammad Shah, I am sending the Malwa
foree under Malhar Rap Holkar, Ranujli Sindhia, and [Udaji]
Puar. It is a glory to this monarchy [i.e., the Mahratta State]
to help the Emperor of Dihli at such a time." [Raj. vi., No. 130 ]
But reliance on the Mahrattas, even if seriously contem-
plated, proved like leaning on # broken reed. No Dakhini
force came to the Emperor's assistance at Karnal or even in
time to defend Dihli after the imperial defeat in the field. On
the contrary, the Mahratta envoy in the Emperor's camp at
Karnal was glad to make his escape by jungle paths on 25th
February and seek safety by retreating as far south as Jaipur.
Baji Rao himsell in his next letter is found contemplating the
defence of the Narmada line to bar the southward advance of
Nadir. A Mahratta defence of Northern India was not to be
thought of.

The imperial forces passed the month of Ramzan [Decem-
ber, 1738] outside Dihli in utter idleness. Then came the news
of the Persians having crossed at Attock. So, at last on [0th
January 1739, the three nobles began to march towards Lahore,
after urging the Emperor with one breath and extreme empha-
sis that he should join the army in person.  On the 18th they
reached Panipat, 55 miles nerth of Dihli.

On that day (18th January), Muhammad Shah himself
issued from Dihli, and on the 27th he reached Panipat, where
his generals had been halting for nine days in expectation of
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his coming ! Nadir's capture of Lahore had already been learnt
by the Court, and it was found too late to save that city. So, it
was decided to encamp and wait for the enemy ar Karnal,
where there was an abundance of water from Ali Mardan's
canal and the extensive plain around supplied opportunities for
manoeuvring large bodies of cavalry, A halt was also necessary
to enable Sandat Khan, the governor of Qudh, to join with his .
30,000 horsemen. Reinforcements were also expected from
Rajputana.

The Emperor's advisers, particularly the Nizam, thereflore,
decided to entrench at Karnal instead of risking a battle. Under
the direction of Sad-ud-din Khan, Mir Atash, the camp was
enclosed with a mud-wall many miles in circuit. Along this
line the guns were ranged side by side ; soldiers were posted in
the trenches to keep watch day and night, [Anandram, 25 ;
Shakir 40 ; Chronicle ; Sivar, 1. 96 ¢ Bayan 32, Jauhar-i-samsam
in Elliot viii, 74.]

The Rival forces at Karnal :
the imperial encampment

The Persian army at Karnal is estimated by Rustam Al
at 55,000 horse. This number is nearest the truth.  We know
from Mirza Mahdi's history that Nadir Shah had started from
Persia with 80,000 troops, and though he had enlisted Afghans
on the way and possibly also received drafts from home, he had
to detach large forces to garrison the many conguered forts and
guard the long line of communication in his rear, as well as to
escort his eldest son on his return to Persia. Hanway says that
Madir reached Tilawri (i.e., Taraori near Azimabad) with
40,000 men ; this was, clearly, exclusive of his vanguard and
rear. The entire Persian camp contained 160,000 souls, of
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whom one-third were servants, but these were all mounted and
some of them completely armed, so that they could take part in
plunder and the defence of their baggage. There were also
more than 6,000 women, dressed with great coats (barani) of
crimson cloth, like the men, and not to be distinguished from
the latler at a distance. [Hanway, I, 367.]

The imperial army is put by Nadir's secretary at three
hundred thousand ‘renowned soldiers,'s 2,000 fighting elephants
and 3,000 pieces of artillery. Rustam Ali's figures are two
hundred thousand horse, innumerable foot, 1,500 elephants and
many guns, [Elliot, vili, 60.] The numbers are still further
exaggerated by the later Lakhnau historian Ghulam Ali, who
gives five hundred thousand horse and foot, 8,000 pieces of
artillery of all calibres, and 11,000 tents. [fmad, 24.] Anandram
who was a secretary (o the Wazir and accompanied the army to
Panipat, puts the number as 50,000 horsemen besides the
personal contingents of the three nobles. We know that the
MNizam had brought with himsell only 3,000 men. So the total
Indian fighting force at Karnal could not have exceeded 75,000
men,

But the number of non-combatants with it was excessive.
Even at the end of the 18th centurya modern Buropean army
operating in the same arca carried hine pon-combatants to ong
fighter. Lord Lake’s camp contained three hundred thousand
souls, out of whom only 30,000 were soldiers. As the Emperor
himself with his harem and the lusurious grandees with their
families were present, we shall not be wrong in estimating the
population in the camp at Karnal at & million men.

* So many could not have been all renowned | Hanway gives
“nearly two hundred thousand, the great part
of which was cavalry,”
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The circuit of the [ndian camp is said by one authority to
have been twelve miles. [Hanway, ii, 364] But such an enor-
mous length of wall could not be adequately defended against
an active enemy with a very mobile cavalry and light artillery
carried on camels. The result was that the Indian army {rom
the very outset lost its mobility and aggressive power, and
became helplessly beleaguared like the Mahratta army of
Sadashiv Bhao in the town of Panipat 22 years later.

The wrong strategy of the Emperor became evident as soon
as the enemy came into touch and made the neighbourhood
unsafe for small parties. The Indian army, owing to ilts vasl
number, —a million souls, besides animals,—could scarcely find
space to encamp on. The Persian horsemen made attack from
all sides, and carried off corn, grass and [uel, so that the price
of grain rose enormously in the camp. * [Rustam All] Within
four days of the battle of Karnal this huge mass of men had
caten up all their store of food, and then after five days of
fasting the entire army surrendered.

Nadir eames into touch with Indian army
at Karnal, 12th February

The city of Karnal lies on the ancient highway from Dihli
to Lahore, about T5 miles nocth of the Mughal capital, 20 miles
north of Panipat, and nine miles south of Taraori, where so
many histaric battles for deciding the lordship of Northern

* Ali Hazin, then at Dihli, says the same thing :  **The Indians, having
. gathered their artillery around, were closely hemmed in by their own fleld-
pieces and as a division of the Qizilbashes had also formed a ring on every
side of them, all intercourse with the outside was closed 1o them, and dearth
and faming f2il on that army.s...-.. Muhammad Shah, and his innumerable
multitude, finding the Qizilbash cavalry spread around them on all sides,
were afraid to atir, and although they saw themselves unable to maintain
their position, they remained on the spot.”
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India have been fought. Even Kurukshetra, the scene of the
mythical warfare between the Pandavas and Kauravas, is only
22 miles north of it.  Hence it was in the patural fitness of
things that the decisive encounter between India and Persia
took place at Karnal,

The canal of Ali Mardan Khan skirts the eastern side of the
town. Between this cunal and the river Jamuna east of it,
there is a plain five to seven miles in breadth, fit for cavalry
manceuvres on a large scale. Muhammad Shah had formed
his entrenched camp along the western bank of the canal, with
the walled town of Karnal immediately south of him. Sarai
Azimabad, the last station of the invaders, stands 12 miles
north of Karnal and some ten miles west of the canal. The
first eight miles of the ground between Agzimabad and Karnal
were then covered with a dense jungle * with a single narrow
path erossing it The four miles immediately north of Karnal .
were a level plain [ree from jungles. Muhammad Shah’s front
and right were, therefore, naturally protected by the jungle and
the canal, respectively. The disposition of the Indian army
wis — the Nizam in the van Facing the north or slightly north-
west with artillery on two sides of him, the Wazir in the left
or west, the Emperor in the centre, and Khan Dauran in the
right or east. [ Juhankusha 346, 5348 ; Hanway, i1, 364. ] )

Madir Shah had arrived at Sarai Azimabad early in the
morning of Sunday, 11th February, 1739. A force of 6,000
horsemen, composed of the best troops of Kurdistan, led by
Haji Khan, divided into two bodies, had previously reconnoi-

* This jungle continued till the early years of the 19th century. Thorn
{ Memoir af The war, P. 480 ) writes in 1803 about the tract fromy Dihli to
Sonepat, “The whole of this country which was formerly fertilized by a
canal dug by Ali Mardan Khan, is now overgrown with jungle, and is
generally in a very desolate state.™
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tred the country along both hanks of the canal up to the very
edge of the imperial camp. These scouts now reported on the
state of the ground and produced prisoners captured outside
the Mughal lines.

Learning the exact dispositions of the imperial army and
the condition of the ground in its environs, Nadir Shah decided
to avoid a frontal attack and make a wide detour along the east
of Karnal, so as to keep touch with the Jamuna and its
abundant water supply on his left flank and also fo cut
Mughal line of communication with Dihli by seizing the town
of Panipat in the rear. His strategy was intended to force
Muhammad Shah to come oot of his lines and accept battle on
a field chosen by Nadir or to remain helplessiy shut up in
Karnul while the Persians would march to Dihli unmolested.
[ Sahankisha, 348. 1 This plan succeeded admirably and much
sooner than was expected.

Before sunrise on Monday, 12th February, the Persian army
marched out of Sarni Azimabad, crossed the canal some nine
miles east of that town, and encamped ona level plain six
miles north-east of Karnal, evidently a little north of Kunjpura
and within sight of (he Jamuna. While the main division
halted here, MNadir with a small escort galloped to the
neighbourhood of Muhammad Shah’s position which wa
indicated by his standards and flags and the comcentration of
artillery round it. After reconnoitring the enemy's numbers
and dispositions, he returned to his own tents.

In the evening a report was brought to him that Saadat
Khan, who was coming from Oudh to the aid of the Emperor
with 30,000 cavalry, artillery and stores, had reached Panipat.
Immediately a division of the Persian army was told off to
intercept him, A second and very strong division was detached
that very might to threaten the eastern flank of the Mughal
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camp, though small bodies of skirmishers had been already
hovering round it al a mile’s distance, cutting off stragglers,
[ Jahankusha, 349. ]

Karnal : Indians Issue for combat

The fatal Tuesday, the 13th of February, 1739, dawned. The
Persian army advanced from its position in three divisions
along the plain between the canal and the Jamuna, a belt nearly
five miles in breadth. Prince Nasr-ullah, in charge of the
Centre, was ordered to march from the bank of the Jamuna®
and take post north of Muhammad Shah's camp, facing the
Nizam's division. Nadir Shah himself, at the head of the
vanguard, first arrived opposite the Indian position on
the canal, but learning on the way that Saadat Khan had joined
the Emperor at midnight, he swerved aside to his left and
pitched his camp on & spacious field, three miles east of the
enemy and a mile or two west of the Jamuna. Here his son
joined him with the Centre. In these movements the forenoon
was passed, and the sun had begun to decline from the
meridian when suddenly the Indians were seen coming out of
their lines to offer battle.

To understand how this happened, it is necessary for us to
know the events in the imperial camp. On receiving his
masler’s appeal for aid, Saadat Khan had left his province of
Oudh at the head of 20,000 horse, artillery and materials of
war, and made successive marches for ons month to reach
Karnal, He bad arrived at Dihli on Tth Febroary and halted
there for one day only. The 55 miles between Dihli and Pani-

# Mirza Mahdi says, “from the northern side of the river Japiuna,” which
tmplice that the Prince’s division had bean thrown across the rivers the day
before, in order te protect Nadir's left Aank, Not likely.
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pat were covered in three days, and then on the 4th day, the
12th of February, he made a supreme effort and passed the
remaining 20 miles, reaching Karnal at midnight with the
main part of his army, while his camp and baggage slowly
stragpled behind, in a long line insufficiently guarded, one
day’s march behind, as was the usval thing with Indian
armies,

We have seen that on the 12th the Persian scouts had
advanced 32 miles from their own camp and secured news of
Saadat Khan's position at Panipat. But the intelligence
department of the Indian army seems to have been hapelessly
careless or inefficient. Saadat Khan had not found out the
enemy’s whereabouts, nor taken care to protect his baggage
train against a possible attack. The Emperor himself at
Karnal had been equally careless. As Ghulam Husain writes,
“ Mone in the imperial camp knew of the near arrival of
Nadir from Lahore, till ong day some men of the corn-dealers
( banjaras ) who had gone six or eight miles outside to bring in
fodder, came back wounded and panic-stricken after a sudden
encounter with the Persian scouts, and the cry ran through the
encampment ‘Nadir has come ! Nadir has come I A mortal
fear seized the army and the longing for Saadat Khan's arrival
became keener.” [ i, 96, ]

About midnight, 12th February, Saadat Khan arrived
near Karnal. He was welcomed a mile in advance by Khan
Dauran and conducted within the lines. In the morming he
waited on the Emperor. After the usnal courtesies had been
exchanged, a council of war was held in the imperial presence
and plans of operations were being discussed, when news
arrived that the Persian advanced skirmishers had fallen wpon
Saadat Khan's baggage and were carrying off 500 loaded
camels. [ Harcharan, ]
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The Khan immediately took up his sword which he had
laid down on the carpet before the Emperor, and asked
for permission to depart and fght the Persians®. The
Nizam counselled delay, wurging that the Ouodh soldiers
were worn out by one month’s incessant marching and
required some days' rest 1o become fit agein. Moreover,
the sun had already begun to decline, and they would
have only three hours of daylight left for fighting after
reaching the field. Khan Dauran also pointed out that as
the imperial troops had not been previously warned to be
ready to fight that day, they would take a long time to
assemble arm and form line of battle, Tt was (the two
-nobles urged ) therefore better to fight the next day, when
they would be able to advance in proper array with arli-
llery and full preparations and to follow their accustomed
tactics. Omne courtier even told Saadat Khan that 500
camels were nothing to a man like him, and that if he
could defeal WNadir Shah,—as they hoped to do easily by
a pitched battle the next day,—the entire Persian royal
camp and its wealth would be their prey.

But he would not listen to this advice and insisted on

going out to the rescue of his camp followers. Sending
out some heralds to proclaim in his camp that all his

#® Harcharan says that the Emperor distrusted Saadal Khan for being a
native of Persin and made him swear fidelity on the Quran in his presence.
Siyar asserts that Sapdat had taken leave of the Emperor and was waiting for
his baggage in the quatters assigned to him ( behind these of Khan Dauran)
when he learnt of the attack, But Shakic Kh, ( then in the camp ),  Abdul
Karim and Harcharan say that he heard the report in the Emperor's darbar.
The Dikli Chrandele says that the Emperor ordered Sandat to go out and
attack the Persians. Anandram says thal the Emperor overruled Ehan
Dauran's objection to fighting on that day. All other authorities hold that
the Emperor agresd with the Nizam (o defer the action tll next day.
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soldiers should assemble and follow him, he hastened to
the point of attack with only his escort and the troops
within call, amounling t¢ a thousand horse and a few
hundred foot, but without sny artillery. The Indian cavalry-
man's employment depended upon the life of his horse,
which was his own property, and therefore he was most
refuctant to risk it or fatigue it too much. After a month
of fast riding, they refused to stir out that day, saying
thal as their master had gone to visit the Emperor he
could not possibly have issued for battle. Still, nearly
4,000 cavalry and 1,000 infantry joined him in the end.
[ Bayan, 34 ; Anandram, 27, ]

As Saadat Khan came (o the field, the Persian skirmi-
shers pretended Right ; he gave them chase and was thus
lured away to a distance of two miles from his camp.
He sent off couriers to the Emperor begging for reinforce-
ments to complete the victory. Muhammad Shah took
counsel of the Nizam, who replied that as the fight was
in the east of imperial camp, Khan Dauran who commanded
the division ncarest to that point wiz.,, the Right Wing,
should go. Khan Dauran obeyed the order *® and issued
forth on an elephant without waiting to assemble his full
contingent or drag out his artillery, As he was very popular
with the soldiers, many of them, on hearing of his having
issued to battle, armed and joined him of their own accord
in successive drafts, till at last he had some 8,000 horse round
hiim.

Later, in the afternoon, the Emperor himself marched
out of his lents with the Wazir and stood with marshalled
ranks by the side of the canal, but more as a distant

# Tmmediately { according to Bayan ), or afler
some grumbling, according o Anandram.
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spectator of the battle than as a participator in it. The
delay in the starting of the different divisions, the absence
of a common pre-arranged plan of bartle and the lack of
one supreme director of operations on the Indian side,
led to their three divisions being separated from one another
by more than a mile's interval, Saadat Khan formed the
Right Wing which was in the extreme east and near the
Jumuna, Khan Dauran’s division now became the Centre and
stood in the middle of the plain, while the Wazir and the
Emperor formed the Left Wing bordering on the canal
Gradually, by the end of the day, when the successive groups
of imperialists had marched up to the field, they formed a vast
concourse of men, filling the wide plain from their own camp
to the place of conflict. with two intervals as described above.
The Left Wing ( under the Emperor } had dragzed out field
artillery from behind the shelter of the trenches and had also
pitched small tents in the plain for its chiefs ; it did not, how-
ever, engage the enemy at all.

But this army was a mob, it lacked cohesion ; it had no
animating soul, no unity’ of command nor indeed any leading
at all. The main portion of it stood stock-still, far away Ffrom
the point of impact, without contributing anything to the stru-
gole, and tbeir vast number only caused a vaster butchery

uring the retreat. The extremely mobile enemy, led by the
greatest living general in  Asia, struck the Indian host
or evaded it as.they found most advantageous to them. Nadir
Shah's genius neutralized the superiority in numbers and the
desperate valour of many of the Indian soldiers,

Battle of Karnal, 13th February

When, a little after midday, Saadat Khan's army was seen to
come forth to the plain, news of it was at once carried to
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MNadir. He was highly elated to hear of it.  He had been wishing
for such & day, as.his Court historian remarks, and it had
come unexpectedly soon, The Indian army had been drawn out
of its strongly entrenched position, and at last a battle of
manoeuvres was possible in which the Persian general could
show his genius.

Madir's arrangements were swiflly made, so as not to let
the enemy escape through night-fall before his work ol destruc-
tion was fully done. He left a division to guard his camp ; his
Centre was placed in charge of his son Nasr-ullah with many
noted warriors and a powerful actillery. The vanguard was
under his own command. Three thousand of his best troops
were formed into three different bodies and placed in ambush.
Two small bodies, each consisting of 500 swift horsemen, were
sent against Saadat Khan and Khan Dauran in order to draw
them further into the field.* Nadir himself, clad in full armour
and wearing an ornamented helmet, mounted a fleet horse and
marched into the fight with one thousand picked Turkish
horsemen of his own clan (the Afshar), to direct the battle. The
Persian army was entirely composed of cavalry, und their
artillery consisted of jazair, i.e., long muskets or swivel-guns,
seven or eight feet in length, with a prong to reston. In
addition, there were samburass or long swivels firing one or
two pound balls ; “each of these pieces, with its stock, was
mounted on a camel, which lay down at command ; and "from
the backs of these animals, trained to this exercise, they charged
and fired these guns.” [Jahankushe, 351 ; Hanway, ii, 368, 153.)

*  Bayan differs : “Nadic's Right Wing was placed under Tahmasp Quli
Jalair, Left under Fath All and Luft Al Afshar, Centre upder Nasr-ullah
and the vanguard, consisting of 4,000 cavalry carrving fazafr, under
himsalf."
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In order to baifle the elephants, on which the Indians mostly
relied for effect, he caused a number of platforms to be made
and fixed each aoross two camels. On these platforms he laid
naphthe and a mixture of combustibles with orders to set them
on fire during the battle. The elephants were sure to fles away
al the sight of the quickly approaching fire and put the Indian
army behind them in disorder. [Hanway, ii., 369.]

The Persian skirmishers had effectively screened their main
position where Nadir had stationed 3,000 of his best troops,
dismounted his swivels and ranged them along the front with
their barrels resting on prongs.

The battle began a little after one o'clock in the aflernoon
with a discharge of arrows on both sides. The Persian scouts
pretended flight, turning back in their saddle and discharging
their bows and muskets while galloping, in the manner of
their Parthian ancestors, Saadat Khan gave chase and was
thus drawn to the ambush three or four miles east of the
imperial camp and the support of its artillery. Suddenly
the cavalry screen drew aside in front and Saadat Khan's
army was assailed by the discharge of many hundred
swivel-guns at point-blank range. [ Harcharan, ] The bravest
of his troopers who rode [oremost fell. After standing this
murderous fire for a short while, the Indian vanguard fled,
[ Anandram. ] Bul Saadat Khan maintained his ground for
some time longer, nmidst a band of devoted followers,
who fought 1o the dealh. Bur early in the evening he
was forced oul of the field, and the fight in the extreme
Right of the Muoghal army ceased.

The same fate overtook Khan Dauran's division in
another part of the field ( the Céntre ), though he made a
longer stand. The rapid fire of the Persian swivel-guns
carried death into his ranks, without a chance of reply.
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The masterly tactics of Nadir, aided by the recklessness
and utter want of generalship of the Indian chiefs, had
geparated the three divisions of the Imperial army from
one another by more than a mile’s interval, so that the
soldiers of each division merely heard the sound of firing
In the other parts of the feld, but could learn nothing
of the plight of their brethren, much less haslen (o their
aid. Khan Dauran could not co-operate with his [riend
Saadar Khan, however much he wished it. The Nizam,
though the ablest general on the Indian side, was absolutely
inert throughout the day and gave no help to Khan Dauran
or Saadat Khan, probably because he hoped ( as Abdul
Karim suggests ) to take the places of these rivals at Court
if they perished, The Emperor was imbecile and stood
like a wooden figure in the extreme Left. At the points
of contact the Indians had a numerical inferiority and
were fnr away from the aid of their heavy artillery. Their
generals mounted on tall elephants became targets for the
enemy’s fire, while the nimble Persian horsemen hovered
round beyvond the reach of the weapons of the Indians.

The murderous fire of Nadir's gunners continued for two
hours. The Indians fought bravely, but gave up thew Jives
as a vain sacrifice, because (in the words of Abdul Karim)
“arrows cannot answer bullets.”  When the situation became
absolutely hopeless and most of their officers had fallen, about
1,000 of the bravest soldiers of Khan Dauran dismounted and,
in the Indian fashion, tying the skirts of their long coats
together, fought on foot il they all died. [ Bayan.] Khan
Dauran himsell had been mortally wounded in the face and
fallen down unconscious on his howda. But a party of devoted
retainers, under his steward Maijlis Rai, surrounded his elephant

and by desperate fighting brought him back to the camp, near
sunset, but only to die. [ Anandram,. |
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Defeat and casualties of the Indians

Saadat Khan had been suffering for the last three months
from a wound in the leg which prevented him from riding or
walking, and he vsed to be carried about in a chair or on an
elephant. Though he had reccived two wounds in this battle,
he could have retired in safety but for an acecident. His
clephant was charged by the infuriated elephant of his nephew
Nisar Mohammad Khan Sher Jang and driven into the Persinn

vranks, though his men stabbed it with sword and dapger Lo
make it stop, Surrounded by enemies, Saadat Khan continued
to shoot arrows from his seal, to resist capture, when a young
Persian soldier of his native city of Naishabur boldly galloped
up to his elephant, and addressing him by his familiar name,
cried out, “Muhammad Amin! Are you mad? Whom are
you fighting ?  On whom are you still relying 7" Then driving
his spear into the ground, and throwing the reins of his horse
round it, he climbed up to Saadat Khan's howds by the rope
banging down from it. The Khan now surrendered and was
taken to Nadir's camp. [ Siyar, i, 97. ]

At the disappearance of these two leaders, the Indian army
melted away, pursued by the Persian horsemen with heavy
slaughter, The Emperor with his other nobles stood in battle
order by the side of the canal {in the extreme west of the
field ) expecting an attack. But Nadir Shah kept his men back
from assaulting such a strongly fortified position and its heavy
artillery ; he had a surer and easier means of compelling the
Emperor’s submission. . At sunset, Muhammad Shah retired to
his camp, after having all that day done absolutely nothing to
save his throne and his people.® The batlle was over in less

# I reject the absurd story told in Bayan, lp. 41. Hanwiay (ii, 369) says that
in the night following the battle the Indian camp was &0 very thin
that from the Emperer’s own quariers to those of the Nizam, which
was nearly two miles off, hardly any people were found,
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than three hours ; it had commenced at the time of the zuhar
prayer and ended at the asar prayer. [ Jahawkusha, 351.]

The slaughter in the Indian army was terrible. MNadir's
court historian gives the exaggerated figures of 100 chiefs and
30,000 common soldiers slain and a vast number taken
prisoner. [ Jahankusha, 353.] Hanway shortly afterwards
heard in Persia of 17,000 Indians having been killed.
Harcharandas gives 20,000 and the Mahratta envoy in the
imperial camp 10 to 12 thousand men in one account and seven
to eight thousand in a later report. [ Brahmendra 8 C., No. 41 ]
Rustam Ali says that Khan Dauran alone lost 5000 men, to
which we must add at least 3,000 for Sandat Khan's division,
making a total of 8,000 slain.

Amaong the officers slain were Muzaffar Khan ( & younger
brother of Khan Dauwran ), three sons of Khan Dauran ( Ali
Hamid, Muhataram and another ), Aslih Khan ( the
commander of the Emperor’s bodyguard ), All Ahmad
Khan,® Shahdad Afghan, Yadgar Hasan Khan ( Koka),
Ashraf  Khan, Ttibar Khan, Aqgil Beg Kambalposh
(‘Blanket-wearer’ ), Mir Kalu ( son of Mir Mushrif ) and
Ratan chand (son of the historian Khushhal chand, who
was office-assistant to the imperial paymaster ). Saadat Khan
and his nephew Sher Jang, as well as Khwaja Ashura ( a son
of Khan Dauran ), were captured alive.

The Joss on the Persian side was 2,500 slain and twice as
many wounded, according to Hanway, who estimales the
Indian casualties in slain as seven times the number of the
Persians killed. This relative proportion seems to me to be

#* So called by Mahdi and Bayan, but speit as Hamid All in Anandram
and the Chranigle. Bayan and Anandram called him Koka,
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nearest the truth, though the figures for both sides wre
exaggernied.®

The gains of the Viclor were immense. OF the elephants,
ficld treasury, guns, baggage and stores of all kinds taken
cutside the entrenchiment, nothing escaped. The booty was
beyond count. As scon as Saadat Khan and Khan Dauran
were seen to leave the [ield, their camps were plundered by
their own [lollowers and the miscellancouvs rabble that accom-
panied Mughal armies. In a twinkle no trace of these iwo
nobles' vast encampments, not even & tent, was left on their
sites. [ Shakir, Siyar i. 96.] When the half-dead body of
Khan Dauran was brought back, his servants had to borrow
a small poleless tent from elsewhere to shelter his head in,

A great terror befell the Indian army.  All night long the
remaining soldiers stood on guard along the camp enclosure,
armed and with their horses saddled, ready to meet the
enemy’s attack. [ Shakir ; Chronicle. ]

Causes of the Indian defeat at Karnal

The defeat of the Indians at Karpal was due as much to
their being outclassed in their weapons of watr and method of
fighting, as to their bad generalship.

Madir was not really a Persian, but a Turk ol a tribe settled
on the Persian soil for centuries past. His soldiers were Turks
and other nomads (like the Kurds), and not Persians proper.
He conversed with Mubammad Shab in Turkish, [Harcharan.]
Indeed, the Persians themselves designated his army accurately

* The bed-ridden invalid Al Hazin, who is eternally cursing lodin, its
climite and people, says that the Persinnz lost only 3 killed and 20
wounded ! Sipar and Ghulam Ali blindly copy these figures.,
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by calling them Qizil-bashes or Red Caps,* from the scarlet
broad-cloth caps worn by them,—the very caps which we see
to-day on the heads of the Turks and their imitators in Egypt
and Indin, The truc Persians are an Aryan people, with & strong
Semitic strain infused into them after the Muslim conquest, but
they have little Turanian or Turkish racial admixture. Their
languuge is not akin fo Turkish, their manners are different
from those of the Turks, and their religion is the opposite of
that Sunnism of which Turkey and the Turks are the orthodox
champions. The Persians proper (the same race as the Parsis
now settled in India) are very intelligent, refined, proud, and
possessed of u delicate sense of humour, but no soldiers. Nadir's
troops, the Qizil-bashes, were men of the same race and same
method of warfare as the so-called Pathan and Mughal conque-
rors of India, namely Turks and Turkomans from Central
Asia, capable of making long and rapid rides and bearing
every privation on the way.

In addition to this, Nadir’s army conlgined a large propor-
tion of men equipped with fire-arms, several thousands of
Jazair-chis or swivel-gunners. Their discipline was strict and
their fire control was of the European type. They used to
reserve their fire till the word of command und then deliver a
volley. The effect on their enemy was as disconcerting as it
was deadly. At Karnal, the Persian swivel-guns were planted
in rows on the ground and kept ready for the Indians, who
were lured there by the skirmishers, and then their rapid fire
completely overthrew the enemy without giving them a chance
to retaliate.

# *“The battle-field became a bed of popples from the erowd of Qizlibash
troops, all of whom wore Turk-like [?] caps of red sqarlar"
[ Anandram, 29, ]
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The Indian cavalry prided itself on its swordmanship and
cultivated sword-play and fancy riding, as if war were a thea-
trical show, They fought with the sword only and felt a con-
tempt for missile weapons and those who used them. In
describing the battles with the Persians for the possession of
Qandahar in the middle of the 17th century, the Dihli Court
historian sneers at the Pérsian troopers for declining sword-
combats with the cavaliersof Hindustan. He taunts the Persians
with cowardice pretty nearly in the same tone as the English
writers employed during the last war in speaking of the German
soldiers, who did not stand up-to receive the bayonet charges
of the British infantry.

The Indian Musalman and Rajput soldiers were very ineffi-
cient in the use of fire-arms. The only musketeers of any value
in the Mughal army in the 17th century were the Hindus
of Buxar, the Bundelas, the Karnatakis ( of whom there were
many in the service of the Bijapur Sultans, but none under the
Later Mughals ), and a small class of hunters called Bachelias
usually recruited jn the Allahabad province. The immense
majority of the Indian soldiers did not fight with muskets, nor
did they, as a rule, carry into the field portable light artillery
of the jazair class in large numbers. The Indian ordnances
were heavy, cumbrous and of a more antiquated type than
those of Persia and Turkey, and therefore the fire delivered by
them was usually slow and inaccurate enough to he neglected.
The Indian soldiers were trained to stake everything on the
shock charge of heavy cavalry and hand to hand grapple. They
had little mobility. MNot so the Qizilbashes in the Persian
service, Like their fellow Turanians in Trans-oxiana or in the
armies of the Usmanli Sultans of Constantinople, they formed
the best cavalry in Asia, —hardy and fast horsemen, mounted
on fleetest and sirongest breed of horses, and trained to the
saddle from their childhood, as became a normal race. They
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were also capital archers, accustomed to shoot from the saddle
and fight while Beeing. They had a decisive advantage over the
[ndiuns, as men fighting with missiles have over those who can
employ side-arms only,

The superior mobhility of Nadir's soldiers enabled them
to assume the offensive from the very beginning. They out-
manoeuvred the Indians and drove them to the place most
advantageous to the attacking party ; they fought or deferred
engagement as it suited them,

The Indians crowning folly was the employment of
elephants in this modern age of muskets and comparatively
long-range artillery carried on camels. Elephants had
failed against mobile cavaley vsing missiles in the almost
pre-historic times of Alexander the Great when fire-arms
were unknown, and more recently against Babar’s horsemen
with their few slow and primitive guns. They were a
sure engine of self-destruction when ranged against Nadir
Shah in the year 1739,

Negotiations for peace with Nadir Shah

When Madir Shah returned to his camp from the battle-
field Saadat Khan was brought before him, after the isha
prayer {8 p. m.). The king spoke contemptously of the
Indian army as a ‘host of bepgars’ and remarked of their
general Khan Dauran that he knew how to die but not
how to fight. [ Jmad.] He then inquired about the resources
and intentions of the Emperor. Saadat Khan diplomati-
cally replied : *The Emperor’s resources are vast, Oaly
one of his nobles came out to fight to-day and has
gone back on being accidentally wounded by a shot. But
there are man}rrut]'ter amirs and brave Rajahs with countless
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hosts still left.” Madir Shah remarked ; “You are my
fellow-countryman and fellow-believer, Advise me how |
can get a ransom from your Emperor and go home to
fight the Sultan of Turkey." Saadat Khan then advised
him to summon the Nizam who was “the Key of the Stale
of India” and settle peace ierms through him.™*  Next day,
I4th February, WNadir Shah sent a man with the Quran to
Muhammad Shah to take an cath on it as o his good faith,
and call the Nizam. Saadat Khan also wrote to the Emperor,
advising him to send the Nizam and make peace.

The MNizam was now the last of the great nobles at
the side of the Emperor, and the latter was naturally
alarmed at the thought of sending him away. He asked,
“If any treachery is done to you, what steps should we
take "* The Nizam replied; “The Quran is between us.
If there is treachery, God will answer far it. Then your
Majesty should retreat to Mandu or some other sirong
fort, summon Masir Jang from the Dakhin with a strong force
and fight the Persian.”

The WNizam then left for the Persian camp with full
powers to negotiate. Nadir received him well and com-
plained, *It is surprising thal while there are nobles like
you on the Emperor's side, the naked Mahrattas can march up
to the walls of Dihli and take ransom from him " The
MNizam replied, "Since new nobles rose to influenee, his
Mujesty did whatever he liked. My advice was not accep-
table to him, Therefore, in helplessness [ left him and retired
to the Dakhin."

¥ This histoty of the negotiations is mainly based upon Harcharan-
das (who Is supported by Rustam Ali, Elliot, viii, 62 ), with
some useful points from the Chroniede, Mahenttl letvers, Anandram
33-36 ; Jahmkusha, 354 3 Siyar 97-98 ; Bayan, 43-44,
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The reply pleased Nadir. Turning to the subject of peace,
he complained of the unfriendly indifference of the Dihli Gover-
nment during his struggles with his enemies, though the former
sovereigns of Persia had often helped the Emperor's fore-
fathers, The Nizam explained it by saying "Since the death
of Farrukhsivar, the affairs of this Government have gone to
rack and ruin owing to quarrels among the nobles, and there-
fore the ministers did not attend to your Majesty’s letters.”

After a long discussion, it was agreed that the Persian army
would go back from that place on being promised # war indem-
nity of 50 lakhs* of rupees, out of which 20 lakhs were to be
paid then and there, 10 lakhs on reaching Lahore, ten lakhs at
Attock, and the remaining ten lakhs al Kabul. After making
this settlement the Nizam took his leave. Nadir sent with him
an invitation to the Emperor to dine with him the next day.

On Thursday, 15th February,t Muhammad Shah accom-
panied by all his nobles started for the Persiancamp, the Nizam
instructing him that he would have to converse with Nadir in
the Turkish language. The Persian Wazir met the party on the
way and vowed on the Quran that no treachery would be done
to them. Outside the Persian encampment Prince Nasrullah
welcomed the guest on behalf of his father. On their arrival,
Nadir advanced to outside his tent, took Muhammad Shah
graciously by the hand and, leading him within, seated him on
the royal carpet by his own side. The Nizam, the Wazir and
Muhammad Ishag Khan were permitted to go inside, all others
remained outside the tent.

% The Siyar (97) puts the figure a1 2 krors. Not true,

+ The Dikii Chronicle gives the date as 18th February, which is contradicted
by Mahdi, Harcharan and all other authorities.
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As the two sovereigns were talking logether, Ishaq Khan
{(Muta-man-ud-daulah) joined in the conversation, Nadir Shah
in anger asked who the man was that had ventured to mingle
his specch with that of kings. Muhammad Shah then introduced
him as the Lutor (atalig) of his childhood. The Persian king
put questions to Ishag Khan and was so much pleased with his
ready and intelligent answers that he pronounced him fit to be
the Wazir of India. [Hareharan.]

The party then sat down to dinner. The Persion congueror
proudly remarked, "My practice is open war and not treach-
erous assassination,’” and then, in order to assure Muhammad
Shah that his food was not poisoned, he exchanged his own
dishes with those of the Emperor just as they were about to
begin eating. [Harcharan.] As an act of courtesy, Nadir Shah
himself handed the cup of coffee to the Emperor. The meeting
ended happily, and about three hours before sunset Muhammad
Shah took leave of his host and returned to his own camp, Here
his family and servants and indeed the whole camp, had been
passing the hours of his absence in the greatest fear and anxisty
expecting his murder or at least captivity at the hands of Nadir.
His sale return now, in the words of the historian, *‘restored to
them the hearts which had left their bodies,” [ Anandram ;
Bayan. 1 But the Persian investment of the Indian eamp
continued. [ Jahan. |

Samsam-ud-davlah Khan Dauran, the head of the army
( Amir-vl-umara and  Bakhshi-ul-mamalile ) died on the 15th,
The story goes that when in the evening of the fatal 13th of
February his senseless body was brought back to the site of his
plundered camp, the Nizam, the Wazir and the Emperor’s
eunuchs came (o inguire after his condition and offer
condolences and prayers. Khan Dauran came to his senses for
a while, opened his eyes and whispered in a very weak voice,
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“I have myself finished my own business. MNow you know and
vour work knows. Never take the Emperor to Nadir, nor
conduct Nadir to Dihli, but send away that evil from this
poinl by any means that you can devise."" [ Siyar.] He then
relapsed into unconsciousness and died alter less than two
days.

The Emperor, on returning from his first visit to Nadir
Shah, heard of the death of Khan Dawran, The Nizam
immediately afterwards came to him and induced him to
confer the deceased noble’s office of Paymaster on his own
gon Firuz Jang, as a reward for his diplorn.atic suceess in
turning MNadir Shah back., [Sfvar.] AL this, Azim-ullah
Khan, the son of the Wazir's brother, was filled with
despair and envy and immediately started for the Persian
caumup with his own retainers to join MNadir, saying, “I am
older than Firuz Jang. Why has the Bakhshi's post been
conferred on Firuz Jang, while 1 am available 7"

The Nizam and the Wazir hastened after him and
brought him back from the way. As the Nizam was older
than Azim-ullah, he assumed the office of Bakhshi himself, and
thus. Azim-ullah was silenced. A truce was thus pached up
at Court. But when Saadat Khan in the Persian camp
heard of the Nizam's appointment as Bakhshi, the fire of
his jealousy blazed forth, as he had long coveted this
post and the Nizam had promised to help him in getting

* Anandram definitely asserts that he survived only one day after the
battle, Mirza Mahdl says (P.352) that he died the day after the balile,
and M. U, (i. 819) supporis this, Ghulam Ali (P. 25) makes him linger not
more than one night. The Mahratta envoy's letter places his death 2 or
3 days after (he battle, Harchéran-das makes (he Emperor leamn of his
death four gharis alter nightfall on the 15th. Bapar has the 3rd day affer
the bartle. The Dikif Clronicle, however, gives 1Tth February gs the date
of his death, and the Sipar repeats it
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it. He now set to wreak vengeance on his successful rival
and his wungrateful master. At his next audience with
Madir Shah, Saadat Khan told him how unwise he was
in being satisfied with an indemnity of 350 lakhs, because
il the conqueror went to Dihli 20 krors in cash and jewels
and other valuable articles beyond estimate would be easily
secured. **At present,” Sandat Khan pointed out, “the
imperial Court has no noble of eminence except the Nizam,
who is a cheat and a philosopher, If this deceiver is
entrapped, everything would happen as your Majesty
desired. 1If you order me, [ shall call my troops and
property from the imperial camp and place them in wour
camp,” Nadir Shah agreed and it was done. [ Harcharan. |

This plot took some time to mature. In the meanwhile
the Nizam had paid a second visit to the Persian king on
the 18th and the Persian Wazir had been feasted in the
Mizam’s tent the day after. [ Cheon.] Evidently these
meetings were held for  hastening the collection of the
indemnity ficst agreed upon.

Nadir Imprisons the Emperor and Nobles

Nadir bided his time for siriking his. treacherous blow,
His sure ally was famine. The agreement had been made
on the 14th and verbally confirmed by the Emperor on
the 15th; but as the money was not paid the investment
of the imperial camp had continued. [ Jahan, 354.] The
condition of the vast population within this huge enclo-
sure was most sad, as we can se¢ vividly in the letter of
the Mahratta envoy who was present there: “Five or
six days passed and then no food could be had in the
camp. Grain could not be procured even at six or seven
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rupeess the seer. The country was a desert, nothing could
be had [ from the neighbouring villages ]. For five days
the men went without food.” As early as the 19th, or
only six days after the battle, the supply of ghee had become
entirely exhausted in the camp, [ Chronicle. ]

But there was no escape. The Qizibash cavalry patrolled
the road to Dihli and cut down or carried into slavery all
who left the Indian camp. The few who slipped through
the cordon of the enemy's cavalry were murdered or robbed
of their all by the peasantry on the way. [ Ali Hazin. |

When famine and despair had thus seized the Mughal
camp in their grip, Nadir Shah summoned the Nizam to
discuss certain matters which had yet to be settled.

On Thursday, 22nd February, the Nizam in full reliance on
the treaty made a week earlier and without any apprehension,
went to the Persian camp, in response to Nadir's letter,  When
he reached MNadir Shah's ante-room, he was detained there.
Madir sent him a message demanding 20 krors of rupees as
indemnity and 20,000 troopers to serve under the Persian
banners as auxiliaries. Asaf Jah was thunder-struck. He
pleaded for abatement, saying, * From the foundation of the
Chaghtai dynasty up to now, 20 krors of rupees had never
been amassed in the imperial treasury. Shah Jahan, with all
his efforts, had accumulated only 16 krors ; but the whole of
it had been spent by Aurangzeb in his long wars in the
Dakhin. At present even 50 Lakhs are not left in the
Treasury, ™

Madir replied in anger, “These False words will not do.
So long as you do not agree to procurcs the sum demanded

*  Apandram, however, says that the price
of flour reached Rs. 4 a sesr.
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by me, you cannot leave this place.”™ So the Nizam was
detained a prisoner in the Persian camp that day and the next.

Nadir pressed the Nizam to write to the Emparor to visit
the Persian camp again, The Nizam protested, saying that no
such term had been agreed to belpre. The Persian king,
however, assured him that he did not mean w break his
promise, he had only found it necessary to meet Muhammad
Shah a second time. | Siyar, 1, 97.] The Nizam had no
help but to write to his master, reporting the exacl state of
affairs.

The unexpected failure of the Nizam 1o return the previous
night had already created anxiety and rumours of treachery
among the Indians: and now when the truth became known
from this letler, consternation and a sense of utter helplessness
seized the Emperor's court and camp. The Wazir was the
only great noble left at his side, and naturally Muhammad Shah
turned to him for counsel ; but he replied that he could do
nothing in such a situation and that the Emperor should act as
he thought best. Muhammad Shah was perplexed in mind and
overwhelmed with grief. Some of the younger nobles coun-
selled resistance and one more appeal to arms before yielding
himself  up to certain captivity, But the Emperor knew that
a further struggle would only lead to greater misery and ruin,
He decided to go to Nadir, leaving it to God to work His will.

On Saturday, 24th February, the Emperor started from his
own camp, accompanied by Muhammad [shag and some eunu-
chs and personal servants (Khowas) and a retinue of 2,000
cavalry only. The other nobles who wished to bear him
company were kept back by him. Arrived in the Persian camp,
he was, according to the report that reached (he Mahratta

* Lirerally, “point oul where the mongy is.
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envoy at Karpal, welcomed by none, but left for a long time
alone and uncared for, and at night joined by the Nizam and |
Saadat Khan, Then he alone was taken to Nadir's tent, With
this visit of the Emperor, as the Persian State Secretary
rightly says, “the key for opening the whole Empire of Hindus-
tan came into the hands of Nadir Shah.” In fact, the Emperor
became a captive and a guard was placed over him., The nobles
who had accompanied him or previcusly gone to the Persian
camp were lold to consider themselves under arrest, and Nadir
gained composure of mind, so far as the chance of any Indian
resistance was concerngd, [Anandram, 42, Raj.]

Mext day, 25th February, the Emperor’s wives, children,
servants and furniture were taken away from Karnal, and he
was lodged close to MNadir Shah’s tents. The captive nobles
also called to themselves their Families and retinue from their
former camp. Qamar-ud-din Khan, who was the Jast great
nable in freedom, was carried by the Qizilbashes to their camp,
along with the imperial artillery at Karnal, The Persian official
historian throws the wveil of hypocrisy over this treacherous
coup d’etal played by his master. He describes the incident in
these words: "'Out of respect for the honour of the august
family of the Emperor, the tents for his residence and the
screens for his harem were set up close to Nadir Shah’s tents
and Abdul Bagl Khan, one of the highest nobles of Persia,
was appointed with & party of soldiers to attend on Muhammad
Shah everywhere and engage in doing the duties of hospitality
to the guest.” [Jahankusha, 354.]

It was proclaimed in the imperial camp that the minor
officers who had not been taken to the Persinn encampment,
and all the common soldiers and [ollowers could either stay at
Karnal or go back to Dihli and their homes as they liked.
[Siyar, Harcharan, Raj. vi.]

[ 63 ]



HADIR SHAH IN INDIA

Great terror and bewilderment now fell on the Indian camp.
They were sheep left without a single shepherd, and surroun-
ded by wolves. Even their last remaining chief, the Wazir,
was now taken away from them. The road to Dikli was beset
by roving bands of Qizilbashes who had now no fear of resis-
1ance, and by the peasantry who had risen in insurrection at the
fall of the Government which had so long kept order.® The vast
camp broke up, and every one fled wherever he thought best,
but comparatively few eflected their retreat in safety. [Sivar
following Ali Hazin.]

Their condition is graphically described in the letter of one
of these fugitives. The Mahratta ambassador at the Mughal
Court, Babu Rao Malhar, had accompanied the Emperor from
Dihli to Karnal with his own escort and property, and stayed
there through these days of growing alarm and anxiety. At last
on Sunday, the 25th, he felt that all was lost. Mustering
courage, or in his own words, ‘making a fort of his breast,” he
issued from the camp at about 3 o’clock in the afterncon. His
elephants, camels, infantry and baggage and tents were sent
towards Dihli by the royal highway, while he himself left it and
plunged into the jungle for greater safety. Here he passed the
night. Next day alier riding some 80 miles along circuitous
by-paths he regmined the road near the Imperial capital.
Saadat Khan was coming along this highway with a strong
Persian escort, and behind them the Mahratta envoy reached
Dihli on the 27th. But that capital was no longer a safe abode.
So, he left it that very day and halted for the night at
Mubammad Khan's Saral, some six miles south of the city.
Thence, by way of Suraj Mal Jat’s camp he reached Jaipur

* Hanway {ii. 369) : Flying pariies of the Persian army within
forty miles round the [imperial] camp cut off not
less than 14,000 Indian marauders.
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{on 6th March) without once halting on the way, and there he
joined his colleague Dhondo Pant. His elephants and camels
came, more slowly, from Dihli to Rewari. His feelings can be
judged from his exclamation : “God has averted a great danger
from me, and enabled me to escape with honour ! The Chaghtai
Empire is gone, the Irani Empire has commenced. Remain
there in great caution I [Rajwade, vi., No, 131.]
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CHAPTER I

NADIR SHAH IN DIHLI : HIS RETURN
STATE OF DIHLI CITY AFTER
THE EMPEROR'S DEFEAT

The people of Dihli had been as careless of the outer world
as the imperial Court. They had not at first realized the
character of the Persian menace, nor the genius of the upstart
shepherd-brigand who was approaching their country.
Confidence in the wardens of the marches produced a false
sense of security, which was heightened by the magnificent
display of the assembled forces of the three highest nobles sent
from the capital on 2nd December, 1738. When, on 19th
January, 1739, the secretary Anandram reached Dihli a day
after the Emperor’s departure to join the army, he found that
every one, great and small, in the city had set his heart on
accompanying the expedition. Some looked upon it as an
opportunity for sesing the Punjab, others thought that a victory
would be gained near the city and that they would return home
very soon.

Then came the truth with slarling suddenness, Early on
the 15th February, news arrived at Dihli that two days earlier
the enemy’s forces had triumphed, the two largest divisions of
the imperial army with their generals had been killed or
captured, and the Emperor’s camp invested. The population
of Dihli was cosmopolitan and included a large miscellancous
body ever ready to engage in violence and plunder. The Gujars
or pastoral brigands lived in the close vicinity ol the city and
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might be expected to raid its rich bazars whenever they heard
that the imperial authority was paralysed or temporarily
weakened. [ fmad., 66. ]
But Haji Fulad Khan, the police prefect of Dihli, was a
wise and energetic man, He kept the city safe by watching
the streets day and night, and promptly pounced upon every
creator of mischiel, In the meantime the highways leading
from the city were totally closed by robbers ; life and property
became insecure outside the walls. Private individuals like
"Anandram who lived beyond the fortified town hired armed
retainers Lo guard their houses, barricaded the ends of their
streets, and laid in stores of powder and shot for the defence
of their homes and families. Twelve days passed in this kind
of anxious watch, when on 27th February Saadat Khan arrived
with 4,000 troopers and the lawless people were overawed.
[ Anandram, 38-41. ]

The day after e had sccured the Emperor’s person, Madir
Shah despatched to Dihli Saadat Khan as the Emperot's repre-
sentative and Tahmasp Khan Jalair as his own plenipotentiary
agent, with 4,000 cavalry to take possession of the city and
palace for the victor and make arrangements for keeping order,
so that no part of the emperial property might be plundered or
secreted during the change of masters and the necessary prepara-
tions might be made for receiving Madit in the palace. The
two nobles reached Dihli on 27th February. They brought
two letters from Muhammad Shah and Nadir to Lutf-ullah
Khan, the governor of the city. The Emperor ordered him to
hand over o Tahmasp the keys of the palaces and imperial
treasuries and stores and to guard the Princes carefully. Nadir's
letter praised Lutf-ullah for his honesty and devotion to hismaster
and confirmed him in the government of Dihli on his own behalf.
Lutf-ullah Khan had talked of digging trenches round Dihli
and making a defence. Therefore, Saadat Khan halted one march
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outside the city and wrote to Lutf-ullah advising him to make a
peaceful surrender.  Resistance was hopeless, and the governor
yielded up the city to the agent of Persia. [Shakir.]

When the news of the occupation of Dihli reached the camp
outside Karnal the two kings set out on 1st March., Muhammad
Shah rode an arrow’s fight behind Nadir, as courtesy required.
The Emperor was accompanied® by only 1,000 horse and his
Wazir by 10,000 The rest of the imperial army had
dispersed to their homes immediately after the order of 25th
February. v

Nadir Shah and the Emperor enter
Dihli Palace

The royal party arrived near the Shalimar garden north of
Dihli on Tth March. Saadat Khan had advanced from the city
a day earlier to welcome Nadir. On the Tth Lutf-ullah went to
the garden to wait on his master, who presented him to Nadir,
The Persian king expressed great pleasure at Lutf-ullah’s ready
obedience, and taking off a costly coat from his own person
invested the Khan with it with his own hands. [ Shakir. ]
Nadir and his army halted in the garden on the Bth, while
Muhammad Shah went into the city to prepare the palace for
receiving his august guest.

The fallen descendant of Babar and Akbar rode into his
capital on a portable throne ( rakhi-f-rawan ) in silence and
humility ; no band played, and no banners were carried before
him. [ Chronicle,] A few nobles accompanied him, [shag
Khan, Bahroz Khan and Jawid Khan.

# Harcharan. Chronfele, But Hanway (ii. 373) gives a different description
of Madir's march to Dihli with 3,50,000 men, forming 4 column 12 miles
long and 3 miles broad.
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Next morning, Friday the 9th of March, the conqueror
entered Dihli riding a grey charger. His troops lined the road
from the limits of the Shalimar garden to the gate of tie fort-
palace of Dihli. The Emperor welcomed his conqueror, spread
the richest carpets, cloth of gold and other rare stuffs on the
ground for him to set his foot upon ( pa-andazi). MNadir Shah
occupied Shuh Jahan's own palace-chambers near the Diwan-
i-khas, while Muhammad Shah lodged near Lhe denrhi of the
Asad Burf. [ Anandram.] On this day the Emperor acted as
the host and placed dinner before MNadir. The Persian army
encamped, some round the fort, some on the bank of the
Jamuna near the city, and some were quariered in houses
throughout the city. [ Ali Hazin, Jahankwsha, 355. ]

Saadat Khan had been in attendance on Nadir the whole of
this day. At night he was severely reprimanded by the Persian
king for his failure to raise the promised ransom and was threa-
tened with personal chastisement if he did not carry out his
word soon, It was too much for him. He retired to his own
house and took poison.

The feast of Id-uz-zuha fell on Saturday, 10th March, In
the morning the name and titles of Nadir were proclaimed as
sovereign from the pulpits of the Jama Masjid and other places
of prayer. [ Siyar, i., 98. ]4In the afternoon Nadir went on a
return visit to Muhammad Shah's chambers and proceeded to
his real business, the exaction of ransom. A little scene was now
played in order to throw a veil of outward decency over the
pre-arranged act of spoliation. We can easily detect the
truth  in  reading between the lines of the following
diplomatic narrative of the Persian king's secretary

[ Jahankusha, 355 ] :—

“Nadir Shah graciously remarked that the throne of
Hindustan would be left to Muhammad Shah, in the terms of the
agreement made on the first day, and that the Emperor would
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enjoy the support and friendship of the Persian monarch
because both were of the same Turkoman stock.

“Muhammad Shah bowed low in gratitude and gave profuse
thanks to the victor for his generosity. He had received no small
favour ;—it was the gift of a crown added to the gift of life.
As a mark of his gratitude he laid before Nadir Shah the accu-
mulated treasures, stores und rare possessions of the rulers of
Dihli as presents to Madir and offerings for his health (nisar).
But the gracious soversign of Persia refused to take any of
these things, though the piled-up wealth of all the other kings
of the world did not amount to a tenth part of a tenth part this
immense hoard. At last he yielded to the importunity of
Muhammad Shah and appointed trosty officers to take delivery
of the money and other property.”

Dihli populace rise against the Persians

While this peaceflul meeting was being held in the palace, a
scene of the opposite character opened in the city, Nadir's
soldiers and camp-fullowers, mostly Turks, Kurds and Mongols,
were wandering carelessly through the strests and bazars of
Dihli as their king was in possession of the city. Suddenly
about four o’clock in the evening (Saturday, 10th March) some
idle talkers and mischief~makers staried the rumour that Nadir
Shah had been treacherously shot dead at the instigation of
Muhammad Shah, by & Qalmaq woman-guard of the palace
when he was returning from his visit 1o the Emperor.®

* This was a familiar stage-device of the story-tollers of Dihii. The captive
Shah Jahan wes sald to have formed a similar plot egainst Aurangzeh
in Agra fart. Details of the alleged murder of Nadlr Shah varried in
the popular mouth. The following rumour reached Aurangabad, aswe
find in a Mahratti news-letter [Raj. vi, Mo. [34) :=“Nadir Shah, break-
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[Anandram 44, Siyar, i, 98] As all had heard that Nadir would
go to the Emperor’s quarters that day, the story found ready
belief. None cared to verily the news by a visit to the palace,
though its gate was open and people were passing in and out of
it on business, [Al Hazin] The rumour spread like wild fire,
and soon afterwards the hooligans and low people of the eity
armed themselves and began to atiack the Persian soldiers and
followers who were strolling through the streets alone or in
groups of two and three. Their small number, their ignorance
of the local language, and their unfamiliarity with the by-
ways of the city put them at a disadvantage and they were slain.
The rumour of the murder of their chief took the heart out of
the Persians and they could not make any organized stand. The
rising spread with the success of the rioters and the weak
delence of the Persians. All night the murderous attack
raged ; it slackened after 3 o'clock next momning ( no doubt
owing to the exhaustion of the fighters ), but revived with new
energy al daybreak, which was the 13th bright lunar day of
Falgun or the commencement of the Holi festival, when the
lower classes of Hindus are particularly excited and often
intoxicated. [Chronicle and Raj. vi, 131.]

Among the authorities, Harcharandas alonc says that
the citizens rose in tumult when they were driven to des-
peration by the violent attacks of the Persian soldiers on
their property and women. This statement goes agalnst the
probabilities of the case, because the time was only one
day after MNadir's arrival, when the amount of the ransom

Ing his oath, faithlessly imprisoned the Emperer and his nobles, though
the Pathans who has joined him urged him not todo it. At the time of
Madir's entrance into Dihli there was a cising of the Patbans round him,
Qasim Khan Pathan and his brother, who were waving peacock feather
fans over Nadir and his Wazir an their howdas, siow both of them with
their dagger at the gate.”
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and the manner of levying it were still being discussed,
and Nadir was not the man to allow a premature fleecing
of the citizen or relax the discipline of his army in a foreign
town. All other writers represent the Indian mob as the
apggressors., The higher classes and all good men held aloof ;
but they took no active step to pacify or control the
hooligans, because the old Government agency for main-
taining order had been dissolved ; the gentry were too much
divided by caste, creed, race and profession to combine
and organize a voluntary police at a moment’s notice, and
their centralized autocratic Government had not developed
their powers of initiative and self-help by giving them any
opportunity of corporate action and municipal self-government.

Hanway heard what seems to me to have been the
most probable account of the origin of the riot, namely
that Tahmasp Khan sent several Persian mounted military
police ( masagechi ) to the granaries of the Paharganj ward,
ordering them to be opened and the price of corn fixed ;
that the corn-dealers not being satisfied with the rate, a
mob assembled ; Sayyid Niaz Khan and several other persons
of distinction pul themselves at their head and slew the
Persian horsemen, and then the report was spread that
Nadir had been mordared, which increased the tumult, [ii, 375]

According to Ali Hazin, seven thousand Persians were slain
that night. But Abdul Karim gives the more probable figure of
3,000.%

# Ali Hazin says that some of the Indian nobles whe had begged from
Madir Qizilbash gunrds for their mansions, gave them up to the maob to
be slain and even killed them with their own hands. But Abdul Karim
tells the more prabahle tale that these guards were preserved and their
presence saved those houses from the vengeance of Nadir's soldiery in
the next day's massacre and even the poor houscholders in their
neighbourhoeod escaped sack by appealing to them.
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When early in the night the first reports of the attacks on
his soldiees were brought to Nadir, he refused to credit them
and censured the complainants by saying that the wrelches in
his army had brought this false charge against the citizens in
the hope of getting from him an order to plunder and slay
them and thus satisly their wicked greed. But the reports
persisted and gradually became more alarming. He now sent
out a sergeant to find out the true facts. The man, on leaving
the fort-gate, was killed by the mob. A second agent suffered
the same fate. Then the Persian king ordered a thousand
muskeleers (o enter the streets and disperse the mob., But by
this time the disturbance had spread over too large an arca for
these few men to succeed in quelling it.

On learning this, Nadir ordered that his soldiers should
remain collected In their respective posts for the rest of the
night, without spreading out or sallyng forth to punish the
Indizns. They were not even to fight unless their posis were
attacked. The gates of the wards of the city were watched by
strong Persian pickets, and the rioting bands were isolated in
their respective quarters and prevenied from combining or
marching elsewhere. [ Jahankusha, 357 ; Harcharan, Bayan
46-47 ; Ali Hazin, 298-299 ; Anandram, 44. ]

Nadir's Massacre at Dihli

At sunrise on Sunday 1lth March, the tumull broke
out afresh. Madir dressed himsell in armour, mounted
his horse and girt around by spearmen carrying daggers also,
rode to the Golden Mosque of Roshan-ud-daulah in the middle
of Chandni Chawk, opposite the Police Station and close to the
Jewel Market. There he ascertained from which wards and
classes of men the crimes of the night before had proceeded,
and then unsheathed his sword as a signal for the general
massacre of the people of those wards.
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His soldiers had so long held their hands back from retalia-
tion solely in obedience to his command. They now hastened
with drawn swords to wreak wvengeance. Within the doomed
areas, the houses were looted, all the men killed without regard
for age and all the women dragged into slaverys The
destroyers set fire to many houses and several of their victims,
both dead and wounded, Hindus and Muhammadans, were
iﬁdiscriminat:ly burnt together. [ Jahankusha, 357-358. ]

The slanghter began about 9 o’clock in the morning and
raged unchecked till about 2 P. M. Then Muhammad Shah
in utter humility sent his highest nobles, the Nizam and the
Wazir, to beg the victor to abate his anger and pardon his
erring subjects. [ Jahan, 359, 1 Wadir listened to the prayer,
bacause he took no pleasure in wanton bloedshed, and had
only ordered the massacre as a measurc of self-defence in
imaginary fear of & universal rising of the Indian' population.

[ Harcharan. ]

The Kotwal was commanded to go through the city with the
heralds of the Persian army, proclaiming to the men to cease
their work of slaughter. They immediately obeyed.

Anandram (who was present in the Wakilpura suburb
throughout Nadir's stay in Dihll) says that the houses in the
Chandni Chawk, the Fruit-market Square, the Dariba Bazar and
the region round the Jama Masjid were sacked. Harcharandas,
too, speaks of only 2 or 3 mahallas near the Forl and the grain-
dealers mahalla ( Paharganj ) which was al a distance from it,
suffering havoe. Abdul Karim defines the portion of the city
subjected to massacre and plunder, as extending from the fort-

* Haoway (if. 376)—Many refugees from the neighbouring couniry,
Jjoined by jewellers, money-changers, and rich shopkespers, headed by
the Court physician, took arms in desperation, assembled in o body,
and fought bravely for some time: but being so little accustomed to
the use of arms, only died sword in hand.
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gate westwards to the old [d-gah, northwards to the wood market,
southwards to outside the Dikli gate in the city-wall.  In addi-
tion to this arca, “in Paharganj where the rising had started,
many men were arrested on the suspicion of having caused the
tumult and they were brought and beheaded on the bank of the
Jamuna.” [Bayan.)

The number ol persons slain was found, on a subsequent
investigation by the Korwal, to be 8,000 according to my MS. of
Abdul Karim's memoirs, but the copy of the same waork used
by Sir H. Elliot's translator, Lt. Prichard, reads 20,000, The
Persinn State Secretary has 30,000 ; and the Maharattt news-
letters ( based on distant hearsay ) give the number of the
vietims as 50,000 in one place and 3 or 4 lakhs in another.
Harcharandas has one lakly ; Hanway adds ten thousand to this
last figure, and says that 10,000 more committed suicide by
throwing  themselves into wells. [ii. 376.] All these are
popular exaggerations due to distant bazar rumours. Consi-
dering the small area affected and the shorl duration of the
havaoe, 20,000 is the most probable number of those put to the
sword,

We are told by more than one authority that many respec-
lable Indian householders slew their own wives and daughters
to save them from dishonour by the Qizilbash soldiery and then
rushed on the enemy’s swords or cut their own throats. Many
women drowned themselves in the wells of their houses to
escape # shame worse than death. Bul many more were
outraged and dragged away as captives, though asccording lo
the Persian State Secretary, Nadir afterwards ordered them to
be restored top their families. [ Hanway ; Johan. 359 ;
Rajwade, vi, Nos. 133 and 167. ]

During the night of the rising two Indian nobles named
Sayyid MNiaz Khan (the son-in-law of the Wazir) and
Shah Nawaz Khan, with Rai Bhan, bad attacked the
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elephant stables of Nadir, killed his superintendent of
mahwis and taken away the elephants, They had afterwards
shut themselves up in a fort outside the city and resisted
capture. Azim-ullah Khan and Fulad Khan were now sent
by the Emperor to arrest them. They were produced before
Nadir with 470 of their armed followers and were put to
death by his order. [ Jahai, 359.] Abdul Karim, however,
hoids them innocent of participation in the night's riot, but
says that they had merely shot down a number of Qizilbash
assailants in the defence of their property and family honour
during the massacre. All other authorities represent these
two nobles as apgressors. Hanway had a different version
of thiz incident. According to him [ii,377], before the
massacre of Dihli & party of the Persian forces had been
sent to seize the cannon at the palace of an Indian lord.
These had been treacherously set upon and murdered bya
body of Tartar Mongols [ of Mughalpura ], Nadir sent a
large detachment who fell wpon these people and slaughtered
nearly 6,000 of them. The Persians brought away the
ordinance together with 300 persons of the chief rank
among them, who were beheaded and their bodies thrown
away on the sand bank { refi ) of the Jamuna.

For some days after the massacre the streets of the
doomed quarters of Dihli became impassable from the
stench of the corpses filling the houses, wells and roadside,
none venturing fo approach them in fear. At last the
Kotwal took Nadir's permission and had the bodies collected
on the roads and other open spaces and burnt them.
[ Anandram, 50 ; Alji Hazin, 300, ]

After the massacre Nadir ordered the granaries to be
sealed up and guards set over them. He also set several
parties of cavalty to invest the city and prevent ingress
and egress. The city was in a state of siege; the roads
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were entirely closed. A famine broke out among the survi-
vors of the massacre. Those who tried to leave
Dikli and go to the neighbouring villages in quest of food,
were intercepted by the cavalry patrols, deprived of their
noses and cars, and driven back into the city. After some
days a lamenting deputation waited on the Persian king and
he at last permitted them to go to Faridabad to buy
provisions. [ Hanway, ii, 377-378 ; Rajwade, vi, No, 133, ]

But even the villages were no gafer. The Persians marauded
for 30 or 40 miles round the capital, plundering the villages,
laying the fields waste and killing the inhabitants who resisted.
After the battle of Karnal a body of Persians had been sent
to raid Thanesar, which they pluodered, slaying many,
During the Shah's advance to Dihli early in March, Punipat,
Sonepat and other towns lying on the way were sacked.
[ Hanway, ii, 384, 372-373. |

Exaction of Ransom from Dilli

MNadir spent two months in Dihli, secure in the occupa-
tion of the capital and engaged in the collection of the
huge indemnity. On 26th March his younger son Mirza
Nasr-ullah was married to an imperial Princess, a daughter
of Dawar Bakhsh, * the grandson of Murad and great
grandson of Shah Jahan. For one week before the ceremony,
rejoicings on a grand scale continued day and night. The
bank of the Jamuna opposite the Diwan-i-Khas was
illuminated with lamps every night, while combats of
elephants, oxen, tigers and deer were held in the day.

The conqueror allowed himself some relaxation after his
arduous campaigns. Dances and songs were performed before
him. One Indian dancing-girl named Nur Bai so highly fasci-

# Dawar Bakhsh's mother was & daughter of Aurangzeb.
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nated him by her musical powers and ode in honour of him
that he ordered her to be paid Rs. 4,000 and taken to Persia in
his train 1t was with Lhe greatest difficulty that she could save
hersell from this last mark of his favour. [ Bayan, 56, ]

The totul indemnity secured by MNadir Shah at Dihli is
eslimated by his Secrctary at nearly 15 krors of rupees in cash,
besides a vast amount in jewels, clothing, furniture und other
things from the imperial store-houses. The ubove figure inclu-
des whatever was taken from the nobles fur and near and the
imperial treasuries. [ Johan, 361,] The grand lotal from all
sources i raised to 70 krors by Frazer, according 1o the
following estimate, which is clearly an exaggeration, as the
State Secretary’s figures are of the highest authority : —

Gold and silver plate and cash ... wee 30 krors
Jewels ... e 25 5
The Peacock Throne and nine other thrones,

also several weapons and utensils, all

garnished with precious stones ... 9 .,

Rich manufactures ... b

Cannon, stores, furniture i 4 5
Total ... 70 krors

¥
—

In addition to these, 300 elephants, 10,000 horses and the
same number of camels were taken away. [ Hanway, 383, 389. ]
Anandram, who was atlached to the Indian Wazir, however,
mives—sixty lakhs of rupees and some thousand gold coins,
nearly one kror of rupees worth of gold-ware, nearly 50 kror,
worth of jewels, most of them unrivalled in the world; the
above included the Peacock Throne. [Anandram, 51 ]

The Emperor had to surrender all his crown-jewels, includ-
ing the famous diamond Koh-i-nur and the Peacock Throne
of Shah Jahan which had cost 2 krors of rupees. In the public
treasuries were found three krors of rupees, but in the inner
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valuts, which had been shut during many reigns, a much larger
amouni was discovered., [Hanway, 383] Abdul Karim says
that the personal property of the Begams of Dihli was not
robbed. This stalement cannot be nccepled, though it isg
fact that no torture was applied 1o these ladies or their servants
for their jewels.

While the Emperor and the nobles were being squeezed of
their wealth, the general public did not escape. A contribution
of one-half of their property was fixed on all the well-to-do
citizens who had escaped the massacre and sack, and a total of
two krors™ was ordered to be raised from this source.  [Shakir
and Anandram ] Anandram, who was assessed five lakhs and
had a Persian military guard placed at his door to enforce
payment, describes the method of extortion thus ;:—

“Accountants were appointed to levy the indemnity from
the inhabitants, under the guidance of Tahmasp Khan Jalair,
But in order to save the citizens from utter ruin, nobles of both
the Governments were directed Lo supervise the assessment of
the ransom in the law-court in the presence of the public.
Footmen (piadas) of the Korwal and nasagehis ( military police
ol Persia ) were sent to take a census of the houses and prepare
lists of the property in each and enforce the appearance of the
citizens, 8o that the sum to be contributed by each” individual
might be in accordance with his means. Helpless people, high
and low, rich and poor, were compelled day after day to attend
at the law-court where they were kept from dawn to sunset and
often till one prahar of night......Without ascertaining the truth,
the calamnies of Mir Waris and Khwaja Rahmat-ullah were
believed...... The lists were prepared. The contribution of the

* Hanway, 383, says, “About the middle of April fonr kror was extoried
from the merchants and commen people.”  But Anandram is & better
authority.

[ 7]



MADIR BHAH IN INDIA

capital totalled two krors of rupees. The Shah appointed the
Mizam, the Wazir, Azim-ullah Khan, Sarbuland Khan and
Murtaza Khan to collect the money, The entire city was
ivided into five sections, and lists of the different mahallas
with the names of their inhabitants and the amount Lo be
levied from each were given to these five nobles.”
[ Anandram, 53, ]
After every citizen had been assessed his exact contribution,
pressure was put upon them to pay the amount. Delay or
objection only led to insult and torture. The floors of the
houses were dug up in search of buried treasure. [Rajwadevi,
133.] Anandram writes in his autobiography : "In the two
mahallas where the collection was entrusted to the Mizam and
the Wazir, the people were treated humanely, as the Wazir paid
a great part of the money from his own chests. But in the other
three mahallas, especially in that assigned to Sarbuland Khan
( i.e., Anandram’s own | ) the sufferings of the people knew no
bounds—Whole families were ruined, Many took poison and
others stabbed themselves (o death.” [Anandram, 54.)
It is said that the Wazir Qamar-ud-din Khan was exposed
in the sun and thus made to pay one kror of rupees plus jewels
and elephants. His diwan MajlisRai was assessedalarge sum and
delivered to Sarbuland Khan to be tortured.  His ear was cut
off in open darbar, and retiring home in the depth of disgrace
he committed suvicide on 8th April.  The Court agent of the
governpr of Bengal was beaten, and he took poison with his
entire family. As Hanway says, “MNo barbarities were left
unpractised, The tax imposed was strictly exacted. What
numbers destroyed themselves with their own hands..."
[Hanway, ii, 382, Frazer 199, Ti-i-Mdl; Tilok Das.]
All this time Nadir lived at Dihli as king. Coins were
issued and the public prayer read in his name as sovereign, and
the title of Shahan Shah { *king of kings’ ) which the Mughal
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Emperors had borne was taken away from them and applied to
him only, Thegovernorso the provincesof India had to proclaim
him as their suzerain and in some instances mint his eoins in
the provincial mints. Muhammad Shah lived in Dihli like a
prisoner of state and his nobles in the same helpless and
degraded condition.

The entire population of Persia shared Lheir king's
prosperity. The revenue of that kingdom was remitted for
three years. The chiefs of the army were lavishly rewarded ;
the common soldiers received 18 months pay together, one-third
of which was their due arrears, one-third an advance, and
the remaining one-third a bounty. [Bayan, 53] The camp-follo-
wers received Rs. 60 per head as salary and Rs. 100 as bounty.

[ Jahan, 361, ]

At Dihli Nadir Shah talked of making a pilgrimage to the
tomb of Shaikh Muin-ud-din Chishti at Ajmer. This journey
was really intended for the spoliation of the Rajput States,
because Ajmer is in the heart of Rajputana. At the report of his
intended movement, Sawal Jai Singh in alarm sent his family
and those of his nobles to the mountain-fastness of Udaipur and
remained alone at his capital ready to flee away at the first
notice, Baji Rao the Peshwa, then at Burhanpur, began to
form plans for holding the line of the Chambal to prevent a
Persian invasion of the Dakhin,

[Rajwade, vi.—133 Brahmendra 8. C,, 41.]

Nadir's Departure from Dihli

Nearly two months having been thus passed at Dibli and
the contribution collected, MNadir Shah held a grand Court on
Tuesday, lst May, to which he summoned the Emperor and his
nobility.  These nobles, about a hundred in number, were
presented with robes of honour, jewelled swords and daggers,
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horses and other gifts. With his own hands he placed the crown
of Hindustan on the head of Muhammad Shah and tied a
jewelled sword round his waist,

The Emperor bowed low in gratitude and said, “As the
generosity of the Shahan Shah has made me a second time
masler of a crown and a throne and exalted me among the
crowned heads of the world, Tbheg to offer as my tribute the
provinces of my Empire west of the river Indus, from Kashmir
to Sindh, and in addition the subah of Tatha and the ports
subordinate to it"  Thus, the trans-Indus provinces and
Afghanistan were finally lost to the heirs of Babar, A consider-
ahle territory east of the Indus had also been seized by Nadir
by right of victory over the local subahdars before the battle of
Karnal, and his right to their revenue was not disputed, though
they continued to be governed by Muhammad Shah's officers.
The governor of Lahor now signed an agreement 1o send Madir
20 lakhs of rupees a year on this account, to remove the reason
for any Persian garrison being left east of the Indus.

At this durbar of 1st May, Nadir Shah urged all the nobles
and officers of India to obey and please their Emperor. He also
gave them and their master much valuable advice on the art
of government, and decreed that hencefarth farmans should
again issue on Muhammad Shah's behalf, and the Khutha and
coins should bear his name and title.  Khutba and coinage in
Madir's name, after having been current in India for two
months, were now discontinued. [Jahan,, 362.] On this day
the Persian conqueror sent off four farmans of his own to Nasir
Jang, Nasir-ul-daulah, Rajah Sahu and Baji Rao, urging them
to respect the settlement hie had made and 1o obey Muhammad
Shah in future. [Jahan Kusha, 361-362, Rajwade vi, 167, Ali
Hazin, 301, Bayan ; 57, Anandram, 80-83. ]

Then, laden with the plundered wealth of India and the
accumulated treasures of eight generations of Emperors, he set
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out on his return home. From India he carried away 130
accountants familiar with the finances of the Mughal Empire,
00 masons, 200 blacksmiths, 200 carpenters and 100 stone-
cutters, to build a city like Dihli in Persin, Some goldsmiths
and boat-builders were also forced to accompany him. These
artisans were supplied with horses and other necessary articles
and promised a large pay and permission to return to India after
three years, Bota considerable number of them contrived to
escape before he reached Lahor. [Hanway, i, 389.]

On Sth May, 1739, he left Dihli aftera stay of 57 days.
Making a short halt in the Shalimar garden qutside the city he
marched by way of Narela to Sonepat, where he overtook his
army. The peasants rose in his rear and plundered stragelers
and the hindmost part of his baggage train. It is said that he
lost 1,000 transport animals (camels, horses and mules) before
reaching Thanesar. In anger he ordered massacres here and at
some other towns on the way, [Hanway, 391)

From Sarhind he swerved aside to the right and proceeded
along the foot of the Himalayas, crossing the upper courses of
the five rivers of the Panjab which were bridged for him. This
he did in order to avoid the blistering heat of summer. On 25th
May he reached the Chinab at Akhnur, 42 miles north-east of
Wazirabad.* By that time the river had been swollen by heavy
rainfall in the hills, When only half the Persian army had
crossed over, the bridge of boats broke from the strength of the
current and 2,000 Persians were drowned. A long halt had to be
made, while a search was made far and near for boats. The
other half of the army was ferried over slowly in boats and rafis

# | here follow Anandram. Mirza Mahdi's words are ; *“He eocamped on
the bank of the river Chinab known as Wazirabad.," This may mean
that the Chinab was known as the river of Wazirabad, and not that
the Persians crossed at the town of Wazirabad.

[ 83 ]



NADIR SHAH TN INDIA

at Kalowal. After thus losing 40 days, Nadir himself crossed
the river last on 3rd July and resumed his march,

By this time the heat had become intolerable even along
the foot of the hills, Zakariya Khan, the subahdar of Lahor and
Multan, had accompanied Madir up to this point. He was now
dismigsed to his seat of government with many gifts and a recom-
mendation for promotion addressed to his master. Nadir Shah
had been pleased with his devotion and ability, and asked
him to name any favour that he liked. The Khan very nobly
begged lor the release of the Indian captives taken away from
Dihli by the Persian army. These were now set free by Nadir's
order, [M.U.,,ii, 106.] Then, by way of Hasan Abdal and the
Khaibar Pass the Persians returned to Kabul,

[Jahankushe, 363-365 ; Anandram, 83-98.]

His return march through the Panjab was molested by
the Sikhs and Jats who rose in his rear and plundered a portion
of his baggage. The immense booty that he carried away from
India did not remain long In the royal treasury of Persia. Eight
years after this invasion Nadir Shah was assassinated, and in
the troubled times that ensued, his hoarded treasurers were
plundered and dispersed.*

* The Peacock Throne consisted of a gold-plated frame capable of
being taken to picces, richly jewelled paneis fitting inte iis eight
sides and detachable pillars, steps and roof. [t used to be put
together ond placed in the darbar hall only of the anniversary of
the royal coromation, but at other times It was stowed away in
lonse parts. When these parts were looted they were naturally
dispersed to difforent quarters, The geneine Peacock Throne of
Shah Jahan no longer exists anywhere in the world ; bul a modern
and cheap imitation of it, made by the later kings of Persia, is still
preserved af Teheran,
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State of India After Nadir's Departure

Nadir Shah's occupation of Dihii and massacre of its
people carried men's memorics 340 years back toa similar
calamity at the hands of Timur. But there was a great
difference between the results of these two foreign invasions.
Timur left the State of Dihli as he had found it, impover-
ished no doubt, but without any dismemberment. Nadir
Shah, on the other hand, annexed the trans-Indus provinces
and the whole of Afghanistan, and thus planted a strong
foreign power constantly impinging on our western frontier
Timur's destructive work and the threat of further invasion
from his country ended with his life. But the Abdali and
his dynasty continued Nadir's work in India as the heir
to his Empire. With the Khaibar Pass and the Peshawar
district in foreign hands, the Panjab became a starting
point for fresh expeditions against Dihli,

Not only: were Afghanistan and the modern N. W.
Frontier Province ceded as the result of Nadir's Invasion,
but the Panjab too was soon afterwards lost. Throughout
the second half of the 18th century, Ahmad Shah Abdali
and his descendants who ruled over Kabul and Lahor,
constantly threatened the peace of Dihli and even the
eastern provinces of the Mughal Empire. Their least move-
ments, their slightest public utterances were reported to
Dihli and Lakhnau =and sent a thrill of fear Lhmugr!
these Indian Courts and caused anxiety and precautionary
diversion of forces to their English protectors, Hastings
and Wellesley. The hardy and trained warriors of Central
Asia and Afghanistan could have captured Dihli by a few
days' dash from Lahor. '

The Panjab, as the defensive barrier of India proper
on the west, passed out of the hands of the ruler ‘of
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Dihli even before the Abdali annexed it. Before the coming
of MNadir, this province had attained to mueh peace and
prosperity as the result of Farrukh-sivar's successful extine-
tion of the Sikh guru Banda and his followers, and later
on the vigorous campaigns ol Zakariya Khan against
predatory local chiefs and rebels. He had also added to
the wealth and besuty of the cities, as Anandram enthusi-
astically describes. But Nadir's invasion undid all this.
The country was first sacked by the Persian soldiers under
orders and then by the lawless natives. Bverywhere robbery
and murder took place ; gangs of robbers closed the roads
to trade and peaceful traffic ; every one fought every ome
else. Utter desolation and disorder seized the province.
The Sikhs began to assert themselves in  éver-increasing
strength, until, half-a-century later, they gained possession
of the entire province. From the end of Muhammad
Shah's reign they became an ever-present thorn in the
side of the Empire. In the second half of the 18th century
they used to make almost annual raids eastwards ro the
environs of Dihli, plundering, buming, massacring and
destroying all traces of cultivation and habitation with
ferocious cruelty. Sarhind, Saharanpur, Meerut, Shahdera
and even Hardwar suffered [rom  their ravages. Peace,
rosperity and industry disappeared fram the region north
and west of the Mughal capital.

After Nadir's return, the Mahratta established themselves
in the southern and western provinces of the Empire in
absolute security, The Dihli soversign had no foree, no
general left to offer them the least resistance. Emboldened
by the helplessness of the central Government, Mahratta
bands began lo penetrate repreatedly to  Orissa,
south-eastern Bihar and Bengal. The local governor was
helpless against their hordes and the Emperor could think of no

[ 86 ]



MADIR SHAH IN [NDIA

other means of meeting this danger than by begging the Puna
Mahrattas to drive the Nagpur Mahrattas out of Bengal.

We are told by the Indian historians that after the departure
of Nadir, the Emperor called his ministers together and devoted
himself to re-esiablishing the administration and restoring the
finances. But we know from history that he did not succeed,
and that during the ten years that he reigned after Nadir's
invasion, the Government grew weaker and weaker and matters
drifted as before,

Indeed, there was no reason why there should be a resto-
ration of the imperial power and prestige, while the character of
the Emperor and his nobles continued 1o be as bad as before.
The Nizam was the only able and honest adviser left ; but he was
now an old manof 82 or 83, and in anticipation of his approaching
death rebellion had broken out among his sons.  His domestic
troubles and anxieties drew him to the Dakhin and kept him
bugy there till his death, Thusthe Emperor could not profitby the
Nizam's wisdom and experience, even il he were inclined to
follow his counsels—which was not the case,

The governors of Oudh and the Dakhin had no help but to:
declare their independence — in practice, if not in name,—as the
subahdar of Bengal had already done:.  The struggle for the
wazirship at the capital-—ie.,, for the post of keeper of the
puppet Emperor,—continued more bitterly than before ; the
factions among the nobility quarralled and intrigued as hard as
ever, and finally after the death of Muhammad Shah (1748) they
came to blows in the streets and pitched battles on the plains
outside Dihli, and the great anarchy, which is only another
name for the history of the Mughal Empire in its last days,
began, destined to be ended only by the foreign conquest of the
imperial capital half of a century laler,
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